IN THE HIGH COURT FOR ZAMBIA  2009/HL/S6
IN THE LIVINGSTONE HIGH COURT '
(Civil Jurlsdlctlon)

BETWEEN:

IN THE MATTER OF: An apphcatlon under Artlcles 11,13, 15 17,21,

23, 28(1), 110(1), 111 and 112 ¢), (d), (¢), (f) & (j)

Co of the Constitution of Zambia

AND

IN THE MATTER OF Rule 2 of the Protection of Fundamental nghts
~ Rules and Regulatlons of 1969 -

IN THE MATTER OF: A PETITION

’__,,,, At

‘BET WEEN : / \{gﬁ?a ol 5\1\

W o )‘J S ‘ . .
STANLEY KINGAIPE /05 ) 15" PETITIONER
CHARLES CHOOKOL}E Yo W \ - 2™ PETITIONER

" AND

THE ATTORNEY—GENERAL o RESPONDENT

B ‘Before the I-Ionourable Mrs. Justlce EN.C. Muyovwe in Open Court on the 2
27" day of May, 2010 at 0900 hours

For the petitioners: Mr. P. Mulenga, Legal- Resources Chambers
For the respondent: Col. M. Phiri, Senior State Advocate, Lt. Col. J. Makanta,
Legal Counsel (ZAF) and Mrs. N.M. Mumba, State Advocate

v ©* JUDGMENT -

Cases referred to:

Castell vs. De Greef (1994) (4) SA 408 o

Lewanika vs. Frederick Chiluba (1998) Z.R. 79

Diau vs. Botswana Building Society (2003) 2 BLR 409

C vs. Minister of Correctional Services-(1996) (4) SA292 -
: : ’ J1
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Byrne vs. Kanweka (1967) Z.R. 82

Sata vs. The Post Newspapers (1995) Z.R.

Airedale NHS Trust vs. Bland (1993) 1 Al E R'821 -
Chester vs. Afshar {2004) 4 All ERS87 ;.

9. Auckland Area Health Board vs. A.G (1993) 1 NZLR 235

o Naw

10. Re A (children) (con]omed twins: surgical separation (2000) 4 All E R 9 61)‘ S

11. Mary Patricia Soko vs.. The Attorney ~General (1988/89) Z: R 58

Leglslatron referred to:

The Constltutlon of Zambla ‘

The African Charter on Human and People ’s-Rights:

The International Covenant on Civil and Political: nghts

The Universal Declaration of Human Rights )
Regulation 9(3) of the Defence Force (Regular Force) (Enhstment and’
Servnce) Regulatmns Cap 106

DA e

© On the 22" November 2007 the petitioners ﬁl'ed_[their petition in which they

' -are"praying for the fqlloWing reliefs:

- (a) That it may be determined and declared that the Respondent:s-; s _
decision to subject them to mandatory and compulsory medical test. =
and examination including HIV/AIDS without their express and/or sl

informed consent as well as pre and post counselrng

1) o IS ultravires Auticle 11 of the Cdnstitution of Zambia ‘ o
if) Is a violation of the Petitiohers’ right to personal liberty "

‘puaranteed to them under Artlcle 13 of the Constrtutron of N

. Zambia s
iiiy Violated the Petitioners’ rrght to protectlon from mhuman and S
degradmg ‘treatment guaranteed - under Artlcle 15 of the .-

" Constitution of Zambia ' -

iv) ©~ Was a. violation of the Petitioners’ rlght to’ prlvacy guaranteed v ,f-". Y

_ under Article 17 of the Constitution of Zambia. ;
v) Consututed a violation of their right to adequate medical and S

health facilities. and to equal and adequate educatlonal Fe

- opportunities in all fields and at all levels as provided for under L
Article 112 (d) and (e)-of the Constitution of Zambia. - .
(b)'That it may be determined and dec‘ared that the Respondeqt s
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" decision to: discharge and/or exclude the- Petitioneré _on. account of -

 their HIV/AIDS on medical ground premxsed on Regulation 9 (3) of o
tHe Defence Force' (Regular Force) ‘ (Enlistment and -Service =~

Regulations Third- Schedule Serial No. (xvi) was.and is: ultravires the.

‘Constitution of Zambia, the Universal Declaration of Fuman Rights, - .

the: African Charter on Human and Peoples’ Rights ' and the

International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights in that:- L

i). it violates the fundamental rights and freedom guaranteed under” :

- Article 11 of the Constitution of Zambla o

ii) it is a violation of the Petitioners" right to - freely associate

guaranteed under Article 21 of the Constitution of Zambia

i) - it is discriminatory and a violation of their rlghts to protection o '
+ from discrimination on account. of their “HIV/AIDS status.

guaranteed under Article 23 of the Constitution of Zambia

iv)" it constituted a violation of their right to secure and adequa{e -
means of livelihood and opportunity to- obtain employment . *

‘recognized under Article 112 (c) of the Constitution of Zambia

- v) it violated their right as. d1sadvantaged persons to-social benefits .

and amenities as are ‘suitable to thelr needs and. are. Just and’
: equitable B
(c) That the Honourable: Court may determme and declare ‘that the -~

+

decision of the Zambia Air Force Commander was and is contrary to_ -
the spirit and intent of the stated Government Pollcy and Guidelines' -
on HIV/AIDS in so far as it relates to the treatment, attitude and. -

- accommodation. of servicemen who have been d1agnosed w1ththe'. o

virus that causes AIDS

' b(d)That the Honourable Court’ may. determme and declale that the‘

Petitioners are entitled to and/ot ought to be entitled to continue

working under the Zambia Air Force in their respective ranks and. =
‘Sections and/or depdrtments and/or be’ redeployed to approprlate and
~alternative,  available Sections and Departments- in the Military
~ Establishment - suitable to their status until such.a time they. shall«“; SR
become Immuno-suppresed: such that they are unable to carry out their -+ -+

*usual and/or alternative duties.
.(e) That the Petitioners be awarded damages for the lost opportumty to
~ continue - working and _enjoying the1r rlghts and prmleges as
“employees of the Zambia Air Force. :

" (f) That the Petitioners be awarded damages for the mental angulsh N

emotional d1stress and the stigma and: discrimination that they were:

subJected to as a result of the Zambla Air Force’ Commander s;
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dec1s1on to. subjeet them to compulsory and mandatory HIV testrng';,:f.

and the premature termination of their employment

(g) That the Honourable Court may make such declaratmn directions, and
orders ‘as it may deem fit to make for the effective realization and . =~
- enforcement of the right of Persons Living with HIV/AIDS such as_f

the Petitioners.

(h) That the Respondent may be ordered to pay the costs and’ 1nc1dental to '; PR

these proceedrngs

This case from the. _commencement of trial ”waswb_eset with pr’ocedural

hiceups and both parties had to give in to each other and allo'wthe\adrnission

~ of documerits whieh wOuld'otherwise not be' adnutt’ed By. consent' learnedr AT

counsels for- the respondent had to apply to:file their answer after reahsmg‘f‘j’ S ’.

-that the answer ﬁled earher had been sworn by Lt Col Makanta who is'in: .ﬁ_ g

the- defence team. The: affidavit in. support of answer sworn by one Dav1d_‘ o

‘Dean Mulenga was then ﬁled by the respondent They also filed by consent:” B

. an affidavit in support of the respondent’s supplementary (contemporaneous)f L o

documents also sworn by Davrd Dean Mulenga Before learned counsel forf', -

the pet1t10ners could complete the 1% pet1tloner ] evldence—ln-chlef hemade "~

an apphcatlon to-file further afﬁdavrts on behalf of his clrents after realrsrng

that this was. the only way . documents could be produced having regard tofj. &t

- the. procedure requrred to be followed in matters commenced by petrtron

‘ 'The learned counsels for the respondent did not object to this. appl1cat10n Ks v v

-1 have stated from the outset this case was beset wrth procedural hlccupsr ST

~+ (for lack of a better term) As T pointed. out to the’ learned counsels for both'f_ e

R partres normally, once the respondent has ﬁled hrs answer, the. pet1t1oner is

-allowed. to reply to the issues rarsed in the answer, but in this:case the- K

Petmoners ‘counsel apphed to file further afﬁdav1ts after the state had filed -~ Vo

its. answer and there was 1o objectlon frorn the. State The court was mmdﬁll ‘_" “
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: of the tact that both partles wanted to-conclude thelr case w1thout any further A

_-delay and since the court was/is interested in substant1a1 Jjustice, I allowed L

: the bendmg of some of the procedural rules as they did not prejudrce eachxii -

party S case.

. The }tSt petrtloner (PWl) testlﬁed that he Jomed ZAF on 16th June 1989 asa

. recruit and after passing out in- 1990 he ‘was appomted as a Leadmg Aircraft =~

.man Class 3. He underwent a Band Course and in 1991 was sent to ZAF .

N Livingstone as a Bandsman but holdmg the rank- of Leadlng Atrcraﬁ man'v‘

Class 3. W1th1n the same year, he was promoted to. the rank of Corporal:' :

'whlle in 1997 he was promoted to the rank of Sergeant which rank he held i

"untrl his discharge in October 2002. He explained that in-2000 the band;_‘ "_"

, d1sbandéd and he was remastered to.the transport sectlon as a Mechamcal,

'. Transport Fitter while at the same tlme he was carrylng out some mlhtary L

o 'dutres such as parade and guard duties: In July 2001, the. b petltloner went -

to see Dr. Matipa who was then Resident Doctor at ZAF L1v1ngstone The ISt- ' j'j '

'pet1t1oner complamed of a swollen right leg and Dr Matlpa referred him to - A‘

?'lemgstone General - Hospttal where he was seen by Dr. Kabwe. The R

: petmoner was lnformed by Dr. Matrpa later i in the month that he had kaposis - :

sarcoma and he commenced him ‘on- cytotox1c drugs admlnlstered through'r_' L

: the drip. ‘The 1s petltloner was one of the people who was ordered to appear A
before a Medlcal Board of Inqurry on 11th October 2001. The Medical Board '

- included Dr. Matipa and Dr. Mulele At the request of the Medical Board he;

' 'explamed the hlstory of h1s illness and how he was feeling at that time. He a

“was given forms to complete and _he wrote a statement as to his condrtlon. s

_ PW1 said he explained to the Board that his illness started in 1998 and that .
he could not Work properly as he could not stand for a long time. He said he
J5



- was speciﬁcally refer-ring to -the yvork he was doing ln the' Meéhanical""
Sectlon and on parades He was not medrcally examined by the Board and .

" he d1d not inform them that he wanted-to retire on medlcal grounds or any.

 other grounds. After the Medical Board of Inquiry, he C(_’%nued working, - i

normally and he was not subjected to. any medical'" exa'minati'on to determine

 whether he was fit ornot. Between 2001 and 2002 ‘his name appeared on the - - o

" Notice l}oard on a Stat1on Routine Order as one of those who was requlred’ o o

to’ submlt to compulsory- medical check up He explalned that since’ th1s :

‘document ‘was signed by the Statxon Commander it was a pumshable

offence to 1gnore the directive. On the date in quest1on he went to the Chmc o o

N __and had the medlcal check up - testlng of his blood: sample ur1ne helght

o s1ght and blood pressure He was not informed the purpose or the nature of : ;ﬁ..' -

" the check up before or aﬁer the tests.. Dr. Mat1pa carrled out the tests and no

: 'counselhng was offered to warn h1m that an HIV test would be camed out R

‘Two days after the compulsory check up, Dr. Matrpa called him and»“-v"—?.

o prescnbed new drugs thhout informing him- why he was puttmg h1m on

~those drugs that is Larmvudme Stavudme and Nev1rap1n He did not adv1se T

o hlm that he had tested HIV posmve or that the drugs were ARVs. Followxng" ‘;' e

_the prescnptlon by Dr. Matlpa the ™ pet1t1oner felt better and contmued '

working normally Although he had not run out of the drugs he stopped

. -taklng them after two months due to insufficient 1nformat1on on fallure to '

. take the drugs The 1 petltloner was 1nformed of the- outcome -of the

",Medlcal Board on 17" October 2002 by the Officer Commandlng _;.

- Admmlstratlon In January 2005 hlS wife got very. 1ll and they both went to L

: _. Kalmgahnga Chnlc in Lusaka to seek. medlcal assrstance Afterhe explamed e

 that his wife had been 1ll for a long trme they were advised to: undergo o

(voluntary counselling and testlng (VCT) The tests revealed that they WEI'E'
' : 16 ‘



both HIV. posrtlve and they ‘were put on ARV’s Before bemg grven the,'b_' . -

ARV’s the lSt petitioner said they were adv1sed as to the effects of takmg.'

~ such drugs and the consequences of failure- to take the drugs He was =~ -

shocked to.discover that the medlcanon was the same as that which had been -

prescribedby Dr Matipa years back in 2002 after the compulsory rhedlcal 7'

vCheCk-up He sard he suffered mental anguish at this dlscovery He explamed\_? o

.that he contmued takmg the drugs ‘but his wrfe passed away in February.

7- ",2005 The lst petrtloner has continued to get his supply. of drugs from the =

- Zambia Air Force Clinic over the years. He denied that at time of drscharge,. .
he wag unfit for. duties because between when he appeared before the

o "Medrcal Board and. the time. of pubhcat10n of the results of the Medlcal s

Boatd, he worked normally He also drd not’ experrence any problems from"‘r

- his colléagues or superrors ' He stated that when he was put on ARV’s he

" responded well to treatment although he took: the medication’ for only. two. "

- months and he did not suffer, any serious illness and never went on sick ©

: v.leave Accordlng to the 1% pet1troner thls was the trme he was appomted in.

o . 'charge of stores in addrtron to the mllrtary duties he ‘was carryrng out The 1% B

pet1t1oner said even if it was shown that he ‘was unfit to carry out h1s duties -

f',at the time of dlscharge he: stated that he was and is still fitto carry out.less

. f . strenuous tasks in the m111tary He testified to the fact that after drscharge ‘he

 was able to. find employment He " stated " that ‘he underwent medrcal /,' :

” exammatxons and assessment wh1ch comprlsed of varrous “tests - at. o

:‘ lemgstone General Hosprtal in 2008 He also went: through medrcal .

» examrnatmns at Un1vers1ty Teaching, Hosprtal on 7 May 2009 which he .

- sald attested 10, his fitness and this was conﬁrmed by Dr. Lisulo Walubrtalf o

(PW5). Dr. Tmasiku (P\ll/4) of the Ur_iiyersity'of Zambia carried- out a e

. psyChological assessment of both petitioners to determine the effects of -
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_'berng put on ARV s wrthout pre and post counsellmg The lSt petrtroner also o |

' 'j'went through psycho—socral assessment in Lusaka w1th Mrrram Banda and a*~‘ L

L second one with the late. Mwenya Mukula a Pyscho-socral Counsellor.

, _When the 15't petrtroner wanted :to- produce the documents in_ hlS- S

_ supplementary bundle of documents.there. was' an objectron from the state RS

© arguing that there was no foundatron lard and that some. of the, documents, o

- were government documents and that it was not clear how the witness had, "

come into possessron of the documents he wanted- to- produce Learned’ :

Counsel for the petrtroners applred for an adjournment to the followrng day o

‘However the followmg day (7th October 2009) Mr. Mulenga 1nformed the. t

: '_»'court that he had realised that the petrtroners bundles of* supplementary .

- documents Were 1mproperly before court and that he needed the petltloners'f_" S

—',to ﬁle further affidavits instead. "The State had no- objectlon to . this "~ e

) apphcatlon This is one of the procedural hlccups that I have referred to‘.‘ o

§ .:earher After grantmg the. petrtroners an adj ournment, they both. ﬁled further

'afﬁdavrts 1n support of their petrtron When the hearlng resumed the ISt‘:" B

: petrtroner mformed the court that he was relying on hrs afﬁdavrt in support~ ELA

of answer, his afﬁdav1t in reply and h}.S supplementary affidavit. The IR
' ”petrtroner stated that he was discharged frorn ZAF due to his HIV status He’.f :
. prayed that. the prayer contalned in the Jomt petltron should be granted

' :Under cross- examrnatlon he admrtted havmg appeared before the Medrcal:"; e

‘Board m October 2001 ‘and that he’ wrote a statement statmg that hrs;j SRR

g condrtron Whrch started in 1998 had become permanent and worsened He i

= sard he was told by Dr Matrpa that he had kaposrs ‘sarcoma and- this Was”"i“‘) :

conﬁrmed at L1v1ngst0ne General. Hosprtar He admrtted that i in hrs statement - : L

SO . Ca . 8



he stated that he could not work properly due to severe pam He sa1d he was»‘ L

ot on’ cytotoxic drugs in July 2001 and that the Mechcal Board in 1tsv: o

ﬁndrngst stated that he ‘was unﬁt due to kaposrs sarcoma However he_. D

 insisted that he stood. by paragraph 10 of the petltron that he was drschar ged, o -

. _ because of his H[V ‘status although he had no document to. prove this. He L

' stated that durmg hlS serv1ce, he underwent medrcal exammauons but none - .

' requrred blood: samples Accordmg to the 1St petrtroner he ‘was:on cytotoxic . - R

' drugs and not ARV’s before appearmg before the Medical’ Board He E

admrtted that he had no document to show that he was grven Nevirapan byi..“ T |

" Dr: Matrpa ‘He conﬁrmed that the Zambia Arr Force has contmued to grve .

h1m ARV s even -after commencement of: tl‘llS actron He stated, however o

~ - that’ he is drscrrmmated in'some way. On bemg referred to a letter wrrtten by' L

©aMr Bwalya of Lrvmgstone General Hosp1ta1 dated 7 December 20021' i

"Conﬁrmmg that he was suffermg from karposrs sarcoma, the 1 pﬂtltlonel S

said he obtamed the letter as he was seekrng treatment for h1s 1llness He« ) -

| admrtted that he was pard his termmal beneﬁts

. The 2 Petitioner (PW?2) joined ZAF on 27?“ Tuly 1989. After graduationhe

" was appornted Leadmg A1rcraft man Class 3 and he rose-to the posrtlon of S

Sergeant on 1% January 2002 a rank he held untll drscharge He: developed-_

'problems.wrth his-leg while he ‘was-an instructor in Kabwe at the ground B

* training school in 1993, He was given antibiotics and pain killers and the

.problern cleared. He' then proceeded to“do a'course in military policing' He

e appeared. before the first. Medrcal Board in 1995 at ZAFE Clinic Kabwe He"‘ S

contmued Workmg normally and m 1996 he underwent re- engagementff:’ :" ‘

,medlcal exammatrons and was. found to be ﬁt to. contmue in full t1me“~v
. service. Between January and February 2001 ‘he was selected to: attend a
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course in Ammun1t1on and Explosive storage at Zambla Army School of BN

* . Ordinance in L1v1ngstone After completmg the course he was’ re- mastered to. T

another trade i.e. an armourer and he sard th1s isa person who is physrcally :

and mentally fit. He served as.an armourer at ZAF Lrvmgstone whlle at the o

_.same trme he ‘was a mrhtary pohceman mamtammg drsc1p11ne and he was '.',

attached to the ZAF Academy where he was an xnstructor in drill. He Was in |

' charge of 200 cadets at the Academy In 2001 he appeared before the 2" - ,

Medrcal Board conducted at ZAF L1V1ngstone He wrote a: statement' ‘

‘descrlblng his. disabilities part of which was the swelhng of the leg and”

’ fungal 1nfect10ns He denled that he requested 10 be drscharged on medlcal': S

‘ grounds After appearrng before the Medlcal Board he contlnued workmgv :

fnormally Between October 2001 and early 2002 he attended a compulsory ;

. medical check-up at Zambla Air Force Clinic at L1v1ngst0ne At this time; he’ S

was stationed at the mam gate controlhng entry of vehrcles and he observed '

ambulances which were prckmg up personnel Who were bed—ndden belng SR

taken to the Clinic for medical exammatron He presented hrmself for g

‘rned1cal* exarmnatlons conducted by Dr. Mat1pa followmg the Statlon. .

Routme Order 1ssued by the Statron Comrnander He also had his blood -

' ’sample taken amongst other samples like urme etc No counselhng was done : el

,before or after takmg blood samples from him. Two or three days later he h

" -was  called by Dr: Matrpa Who advised. him ,Lthat he was dlscontlnurng_;.

' fluconazole and he w.asputtingv’him" on new drugs - Nivarapine” Stavu'dine"z
- “and Lamrvudme Dr Matlpa told him: that the drugs would help him. with the -

patn in his Ieg

“ In October '200‘2'he, received avletter_di.scharging himfrom:the military: He s ‘

‘was surprised because two weeks earlier the Station Commander was
a : . 710
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b

' _congratulatmg hrm on his outstandrng performance and he conferred on hun'i; B

. the substantrve rank of sergeant. The 2™ petltloner stated that he was still- fit ‘"; -

.to work in the mrhtary because he ‘had continued worlung normally after‘-_ -

: attendrng the- Medrcal Board he. dlscharged his dutres with drhgence wrthoutr" ._ :

any complamts from. his superrors and colleagues he was- assrgned more =

- duties and got prornoted he was put on ARV’s. (though ‘without - his-

- ‘knowledge) and: responded well to treatment and he had no serrous health i

problems and never went on leave he was selected to go for.a course 1n :

;F'Ammumuon and_ Bxplosive: Storage at the Zambia ‘Army School of

o Ordinance. He stated that even if he was shown’ that he. was, unﬁt for aH‘V « -

» forrns ot dutles - he was and is still capable of perforrmng alternatlve dutres:

‘ W1th1n the mlhtary hke clertcal duties. He stated that even: after drscharge he - K

- ;Was able to find ernployment and he went for further studres in Automotlve EEEN

. Mechamcs for one year The ond petmoner stated that h1s health statust‘ .

-confirmed that vw1t_h; contmued tre,atment and adherence to medl,c_atlon-he is s

: still fit to work in ,hrs‘forrner capacity or in-any ‘other. altemaﬁ\:/elcapacity i - T

. ZAF. -

- The: 2 petitioner said'he came to. ltnow about his HIV status in 2003 when - .

v he v was referred to-Sepo. Centre by Dr Matrpa He produced the Referral :
- - Note dated 9m May, 2003 headed “Request for consultatron and its dated om. s e

| "May 2003 It states “our- dragnosrs and comments - known patrent wrth_;':-”'

B 1rnmunosuppressron on’ ARVs Pls assrst him as necessary The 2““'_;1;'2' 0

petl‘uoner sard when he presented the note- from Dr.- Matlpa to ofﬁcrals at.' e

SEPO Centre he was counselled before grvmg his blood sample . and after

’ testmg he was advrsed of his H[V. status and.that he_nee_ded continuous -+

counselling to enable him live positively. The 2 petitioner.stated thath:he is.
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relylng on the afﬁdavrt in support of petltlon the afﬁdav1t in reply and the,: s
' further affidavit i in support of answer, '

In cross -examination the 2“ petrtroner admrtted havmg attended hrs first.

MedrcaF Board in 1995 and: he admitted that he could not put on shoes T R

- was in pain. He adrmtted that he coutd not perforrn hrs duties and he agreedv_i B

to the recommendatron of the Board at: that tlme which stated arnongst other B

_ thmgs that he was ﬁt for limited trade dutres The 2" petltloner said’ he went. -

on sick leave for 60 days In 1998 he was admltted to Chikankata Hosprtal s

. for TB treatment and he was grven two months bed” rest. In 2000 he was =

,1’awarded ternporal Non-effectrve Medical Employment Standard of A4G4'_ o '_ -

" and was to appear before the next Medlcal Board whlch did not take place. ; ':

He agreed that at this time he was “living> on pain killers and he had_a,f‘~

prohlem of blocked nostrils. He explained that his leg was almost amputated: - D

:‘_ “at Lrvrngstone General Hosp1ta1 because of the problem that he had with his - ! L

| ‘brg, toe and he was only saved from amputatlon by a doetor at Marna Soko - S

' Military Hospital in. Lusaka He admrtted bemg paid: his termmal beneﬁts ':k."

He stated that he had no - documents to show that he was ﬁt at tlme of

: dlscharge

. PW3 s ev1dence was. substantlally the same as that of the two petrtloners He. .

~stated that. he worked together w1th the petltroners n October 2001 they - .

S underwent an annual medroal check up. He said a lot of samples were taken: S

: 1nclud1ng blood samples which was unusual No reason was grven for takrng' B

- blood samples and’ there Wwas no- pre or post= counselhng A year Iatel R

'together with the petltroners and- other deceased personnel they were. -

declare;l permanently unﬁt. for all forms of nnhtary. duties and tney were -
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. ‘di‘scharged on Sfd:October 2002.

. .

: PW4 as' Mwiya_ Liyamunga Irnasrku a’ Chmcal Psychologlst who._"‘ : .

S conﬁrmed that the petitioners- were his patrents whom he examrned after

they. were referred to him by their lawyer in May 2009 An Objectron wasf e

~ raised-in that PW4 examined the petitioners. when the matter was alreadyc S

' B ‘subjudlce Mr Mulenga referred ‘to various authorltles to support hlS ;

g ’~_'argument but I ruled that PW4 could give ev1dence as long as: hlS evrdence o

" was within the pleadmgs :

- PW4 exp]arned that if someone is subjected to an, HIV test unknowrngly and«

' put on ARVs unknowmgly this. can 1ead to feehngs of dejectlon, humxhatlon o = o

and” mampulatlon Such a person would have. no social responsrblhty and: e

: Vmay not take any precautlons to avord Te~ 1nfect1ng hlmself or others He sard‘ e

ithat issues of- comphance to the medrcatlon or adherence to. the medrcatron i .

would be comprormsed because such. a person would take ARVs, wrthout

x :.'takrng the necessary precautrons hke avordance of alcohol He stated that-A PR

» -counselhng is an mtegral part .of healthcare He stated that pre—testf""’ )

g - counselhng prepares” the- client- by preparmg “himi - for the HIV test, by .

" supplying him wrth 1nformat10n relatrng to the nature of the HIV test the ST

o consequences of: havrng an HIV positive result and the 1mp11catlon of- an S

o CHIV negatrve result He explamed that pre—test and post—test counse]hng

o -prepares the chent to acquire adaptwe coprng mechanrsms whrch would take .

- care " of 1n-depths psychologrcal trauma symptorns such as anxrety,:,\

depressron suicide 1deat10n Therefore, before someone is tested they must.

. go through pre-test counselhng which helps the chent to glve an 1nformedf

consent The client is also educated as to the dlﬁerence between HIV and

113



o ‘AIDS Post—test counselhng will depend on the result of the test. If the"'
: _Hperson is found to be HIV. pos1t1ve the client is remmded of the coplng i
strategles and 1f he is negative, the clrent would be mformed of the Wll’ldOW.

perrod and the need to avord rrsky behavrour in order to mamtam the HIV :

. ‘negatlve status. He empha51sed that for someone hvmg w1th HIV/AIDS they-f -

have to be adv1sed that it is-a life threatenmg condxtron WhICh requrresf s

counselhng and this is a contrnuous process.

oI Cross- exammatron he mamtamed that an 1nformed consent isa rrght A

chent has before they ‘are sub]ected to HIV testing, As regards combatants L

'~he sald that mternatlonally they are tested before they JOIl’l the servrce andr o

S *they are recruited on the basis of the results But when they Jorn the servrce -

: :an informed consent should be obtained.

‘ PWS was Lrsulo Walubrta a rnedrcal doctor holdrng the posrtlon of Semor: “

- Regrstrar in the Department of Internal Med1c1ne at.the University Teachrng S

Hosprtal in Lusaka: He is 1nvolved in the freatment of people living with- -
i HIV/AIDS and they form the bulk of his patlents and he has been attendlng'- : . e

“to- patrents in this category since 2000 He met the pet1t10ners in May 2009’1' '

: i after they were referred to h1m by a surgeon who thought that therr problem woe

_was a med1ca1 one and they needed to. be assessed The petltroners mformed ;

: i-hrm that they Wante_d to have medical exammatrons to find out if they were - *°

. fit or not. They int'ormed him that they" were ’HIV positive stating that the'y" . il

" were on ARVs since 2002. ‘The 1* petxtloner 1nformed hlm that 1n the past he‘,

kj‘had been treated for kaposrs sarcorna PW5 exarnrned the lesrons on hlS legs_v_- s

,and he formed the oplmon that he had a fungal infection. He treated him and 4'

B it got ht:aled. As for the 2™ petmoner, he gave a history of TB_,on thre,e DRI
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‘ 'occasrons and that he also had gangrene but PWS oould not agree Wlth thrs : |

. dlagnosrs PW5 wrote to Zambra Air Force requestmg for the petltroners o

' kmedrcal records but thlS was demed He conducted hrs exammatlons and

4'-f0und them both to be fit.

_PWS further stated that as regards the 1S petltloner he could not be sure '

" w1thout past medrcal records Whether he had kaposrs sarcoma or not. As for. T

- the'2™ pet1t1oner he sa1d he did not have gangrene as his b1g toe would have
o :been amputated if that was the. case. PWS s deﬁmtlon of dlsablhty is loss of

iy - normal function of a body part erther temporal or perrnanent The wrtness e

‘ Was referred to DDM2 which is titled a “Medical Board Proceedrngs On A e L

: Member of the Zambra Defence Force” In part 2 of the Form (relatmg to. ther_" o

_ 2 petrtloner) Wh1ch is to be completed by the Medlcal Ofﬁcer in charge of B

k the case, paragraph 18. talks of the drsab1hty or disabilities in . respect of

c.whlch it is proposed to bring the member before a Medical Board - and'in - o

s ‘thrs case it is 1ndrcated Arthrms on the leg. PWS explamed the meamng of SR

; Arthrxtrs statmg that there are dlfferent forms of arthnt1s whrch is ant_ -

o _1nﬂam1nat10n of a Jomt and lookmg at the entry he could not tell the type of ':-; v

arthrltls the 2™ petltloner suffered from i in 1995. He stated that he could not S

L _understand what was meant by arthritis of the leg He d1sputed the way the e

., Z'-’dlsablhty was calculated on the form and he could not tell whether - the“; S

i dlsablhty was temporal or permanent gomg by the entry on the form He? SRINERTS

e failed o comprehend the entries made on the form and could not understand .

What the Medlcal Board ‘meant by 15% d1sab1hty havmg regard to the : Vil

allrnents 1ndlcated on the form ‘He could not comment on the ﬁnal remarks;_ 5 L
' by ‘the: Drrector of Medlcal Setvices as he d1d not agree w1th most of the

rnforrnatron filled in the form whlch he could not comprehend He stated LhaL "
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"in his case, he could declare a patient temporarily unﬁt if what he is"

suffering from can be treated temporauly and if the drsabrhty is permanent

~ then it is for the rest of that patient’s. hfe He stated that a:person, who. is S

' declared’ unfit, remains unﬁt He could not declare the petrtloners unfit after'

L examrnmg them as he d1d not find the petxtloners physwally unﬁt to Work

Under cross—exammatlon he sa1d he learnt later that the matter was in court : o

. He admrtted he was not- famlhar w1th the Manual used hy doctors deahng-

: »w1th mrhtary personnel In absenee of medical hlstory of the patlent he: sa1d : o

: his conclusrons could be. wrong if he is fed Wrth wrong 1nformatron and this j’ S

- s why he requested for- documents After looking at the Medical Board e

| ‘Forms relatmg to the gt petrtloner for 1995 and 2002 he said his (PW2 sy N

SRy problem ‘either persrsted or he’ was mahngermg He said there are people1

who complam of nonwemstent _problems or ‘else’ 1t may have been due to o

) madequate treatment or wrong medlcatron He agreed that a lot of 1ssues. R

. lead to nnmunosuppressron In, h1s case, he would only use the term‘-}»

N rmmunosuppressmn if. he d1d not ‘want o be specrﬂc but he 1n51sted that'-?;;‘

_ this is discouraged.

'PW6 Professor Nkandu Luo testified " that as an Immunologrst and:~ B

.-Mrcrobrologlst one of the drseases she has 1nvested her support in’ is

"HIV/AIDS. She explarned that the HIV V1rus ‘is .a_‘slow- vrrus in that if o

"'someone gets HIV it will take many years for them to present with AIDS S

e Accordmg to PW6 HIV has different stages She sard that’ when someoner _' K

' gets mfected it takes six (6) weeks ‘before they can tell that the person has

CHIV mfectron and this is detected in the 1aboratory She stated that it takes“.;

: years for a person to present the symptoms though they are ourable. Even
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B : and put him or her on second hne drugs. And if the person is put on drugs

‘when' & person gets AIDS which is a coilection of diseases like TB and v

= drarrhea these diseases can be cured. When. a person get AIDS he becomes.

: '.Very s1ck She emphasrzed the 1mportance of proper evaluatlon of the patlent ". ,7

- ‘before puttlng him on Antrretrovrral Therapy However the pa’uent rnust be. 1 e

, '_fevaluated contlnuously at least every three months For example the1r hver : ., il

functron must be checked blood proﬁle taken, CD4 counts. and $0 on..-
‘Antlretrovual treatment is.very beneﬁc1a1 and she said this i 1s ‘why i m Zambia
' we no. longer see sick people around as it was in the past PW6 explamed :

B :that a dcctor cannot.look at.a patrent and conclude he is immuno- suppressed =

Ifa person has HIV and they are unable to work, 1t meatis that the: person has: P

- .advanced AIDS and is not. respondrng to treatment She further explamed’l

that 1 no ‘one should be tested. for HIV wrthout counselhng and emphasrzed-

the 1mportance of adherence counselhng as takmg ary- drugs has a tox1c

7 -effect on the body. Accordmg to-Professor Luo anyone on drugs should be ; o

- T‘evaluatled SO that if there ate. any problerns the doctor can change the drugsf"

wrthout counselhng, thrs means the doctor: has not- given the patlent a chance; =

St change Without proper counselhng on how to_take drugs a national = .

problem can be. created because another strarn is created as. people become“ gk

. ot resrstan;t to the drugs Professor Luo was not cross examlned by the defence e

4 The respondent called two Wltnesses Dr Remmy Matrpa (RWI) conﬁrmed:‘j' e

‘ *that he worked as the Statlon Medlcal Ofﬁcer at ZAF L1V1ngstone He knew 3 }k

o the petltroners when he was workmg at ZAF L1V1ngstone He adrnxtted that* e K

,the petitioners were dlscharged on medlcal grounds He explarned that bemg ,

o drscharged on. medrcal grounds meant that the person has been. unable to

o perforrn military duties- for sornetlme. For the 1 pet1t1one_r he wrote to_the’ E

7



R Statron Commander on 30th July 2001 to consrder him for recategorrsatronz; o

“andhe therefore had to appear before the Medical Board At this tnne the 1% ‘,

_petrtroner was being looked after by doctors from Lrvrngstone Generall .

- Hospltal The 2" petltroner was his regular patlent who suffered. from three Y

arlments He had been on TB treatment and he also presented with celluhtrs

ofthe rrght foot and the toes were gettmg gangrenous and he did rot respondff_ X

._»to treatrnent wrth antrblotrcs He also had celluhtrs of the ﬁ'ontal bone -

follow1ng chronrc frontal srnusrtrs These were pers1stent conditions and he o ‘

referred h1m to Maina Soko Mrhtary Hosprtal 1n Lusaka for a consultant'i , :

- surgeon to. attend to hnn The two petrtroners appeared before the- Medrcal” L

" Board composed of three doctors, chaired by Dr.. Mulela (RWZ) while he - - ‘
s /}jf_was a member. Dr. Matrpa explarned that the 1% petltloner was: sufferrng‘j S
- _from kaposrs sarcoma of the rrght leg which made him unable to perform hrs: . : T

iR -mrlltary duties. He said kaposrs sarcoma carrres a drsabrhty of" 20% and thrs/" SO

. was not due to servrce He sa1d that as a Med1ca1 Board they gave the- Ik

' petrtroner a medrcal category “of A4G5 meamng he was unable to perform: "f

~ his. mrhtary dutles at that trme hence the recommendatron that he be LR b

¥

B drscharged on medrcal grounds a

o . fF or the 2“ petrtloner he sard they. generahsed the drsablhty -and. terrned rt A

' 1mmune suppressron takrng into account the recurrent attacks of pulmonary‘ g

‘ tuberculosas frontal bone osteornyelrtls and chronic celluhtes of the rrght brg\(, .

- toe.” The degree of drsabﬂrty for the- 2 ‘pet1t10ner was put at 15% and he:

“was also grven a medical category . of- A4GS. The Board recommended thatj‘_j'ﬁ_‘ ,

“he be drscharged on medrcal grounds and accordrng to Dr. Matrpa when he: o

| :Was posted at ZAF Lrvrngstone he notrced that a number of staff were not' A

) healthy. Thrs_was the time when ARVs were introduced i in the country and o

J18



ZAF was Spearheading this issue. and. herre'quest'ed‘the Direc‘torro‘f AMe.dica-l ;:7-: —

Serv1ces to prov1de them with ARVs. After the Dxrector of Medrcal Servrces N -

' agreed a programme was arranged for all staff that were not domg well

_health w1se to- undergo testmg and counsellmg and this ‘was done by the B |

;Srster-m-Charge Zlmba Those who ‘were found to be. posmve Went through‘ e ,

'pre—treatment counselhng w1th h1m He sard at the time, access to proper’
measurement of Vlral load and CD4 count was not avallabie and the’ dec151on

‘to.start someone on ARVs ‘was the doctor S assessment and chmcal,_ E

: ;,Kassessment and full blood" count results Those who were chmcally 111 or;' Ll

‘with opportumstrc 1nfect10ns were cons1dered for ARVs Due to the-“'; T ‘

 condition the petltloners Were in, they were also ellgrble for ARVs Dr L

:}Matlpa sa1d he admmrstered the drugs hunself as he took personal"r L

responshblhty as he wanted to maintain conﬁdentlahty In th13 regard those

: .-’,-.'who were fit used to go to. his office’ but those who- were bedridden - he

- followed them up to their: homes to ensure they took their medtclnes He leftv

o Zambia A1r Force in- December 2003 but he was in: toueh w1th the: petrtronels,i : 7

even after therr dlSChal'ge He’ said that- before the mtroductmn of ARVs

kaposrs sarcoma was.a killer dlsease and he had managed a lot of patrents 1n}: S

e -'Mtnxstry of Health and ZAF but w1th the commg “of ARVs the: prcture.-.

' :-ehanged He- explalned that ‘the- vrrus that caused kaposrs sarcoma responds 3

- f'well to ARVs and a study done in South Amerrca conﬁrmed that ARVs can",‘ RRGAR

: cure kap051s sarcoma a comblnatlon of ARVs and. cytotox1c drugs is good‘-;ﬁf Era

'Later, the cytotox1c dlugs can be drscontmued and the patlent 1s mamtalnedf S

- onARYs only and the patrent does well In kaposis sarcoma he explamed‘ i

' »that the lesions’ dxsappear leavmg a dark ptgmentahon of: the skrn He", N

' “confirmed that durmg that perrod the ZAF were. workmg together with other,-'fi S
’ orgamsattons hke SEPO Centre and the Mlmstry of Health. SEPO Centre R ’
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- Was- issuing food snpplements to patients and since'ZAF had not started 1ts

'*"food supplement programme he- referred his patrents to them. He adrmtted" B

: ”wrrtmg a referral letter (SK20) to SEPO Centre on behalf of the 2“d i

- petitioner.

g . .‘ . “’I . C ) R .‘ : s v L it
In:crosg-examination he stated that as a station medical officer hei had-the:

- right to: request that 1St’petitioner be recategorised and he recommended that =

he should only carryout his trade but not guard duties. Explammg the: 2“d',"f o

petrtxoner s condmon he said that he had gangrene on his. big toe because the S h

. process “had started and it was: becomrng worse' and more painful. He was

: ,;questloned over hls reference i CCS contalned in the 21 petltloner s further

- ,}afﬁdawt . support of petition where he referred him to Lrvrngstone General S

".Hosp1tal and  in the reference he stated ‘I feel  the only solutlon is

amputatron He said when he saw gangrene settmg in; he decrded to refer IR

h1m to a consultant and that it was up to the consultant to decrde whether to

amputate or not. He stated that when he. recategorlsed the pet1t1oners they

._iwere uflable to perform their rmhtary duties: He said: dependlng on. i

: progressron of the drsease they could perform therr dutres He adrnltted that -

i the arlments that. they were. suffermg from were not permanent and werev

- treatable He explalned that he 1nd1cated 1rmnuno—suppressron 1nstead of

: specrfymg the ailments in respect of the 2 petltloner He said it is Tt

'vfacceptable to use the words 1rnmuno—suppressron as long you know the'.‘ i

- ;,condrtlon of the patrent He stated that as a Medical Board they consider the

L hlstory of the patrent before reachrng any concluston He stated that in

o nnlrtary language dlsabﬂrty is ‘an arlment wh11e medlcally speakmg a

‘ dlsablhty is a loss of function. He agreed that there is no such thrng as '

arthrrtls of the rlght leg. He stated that each 1nst1tut10n has its own standards' e

Ca 120



of assessment and that the Medrcal Board did not g1ve the percentage of )
drsabrhty blindly. ‘He .admitted that he was a member of the Medrcal Board |
© that recommended the discharge of the 2 pet1t1oner in 2001 and he msrsted‘ :

 that, the 2 petltloner requested. for the drscharge Dr Matipa sard the:‘

Situation prevarhng at that time was serious to the extent where in' Zambla.‘_ ‘

" Air Force they were burymg people weekly and-measures had to be put in ERi

_ place to put a-stop to this. The measures whrch were put in place 1mproved :
the srtua‘uon “greatly. In most cases, he looked - at the patrents andif"

' recomrnended counselhng takmg into account therr condltron and hrstory A

tramed counsellor drd the pre-test counselhng He sard he was ‘not aware: that - .

. one of the petrtroners had stopped takmg the ARVS Although he agreed that -
Citis better to check the vrral load and CD4 count, at that time the equrprnent:"

* was not avarlable The polrcy is that Where facrlltles are avarlable they can‘ T

L be used but: Where it is*lacking one can use. clmrcal assessment and CD4

“count results He explarned that even in rural areas proper equrpment is not

. avarlable but they still manager He managed the two petrtroners up to 2003 S o

" and there was 1mprovement in their general health. He said he was not aware -

: rthat the pet1t10ners contrnued workrng normally but by the tlme the results of

the Medlcal Board: were comrng out he had already tested the petrtroners for? Lk

- HIV and. the issue of thelr status was between the petrtroners and hrmself He "

did not- inform his: superlors about the HIV status of the pet1t10ners He

‘emphasrzed that perforrnrng rnllrtary duties was the- deterrnrnrng factor and )

“ nhot the trade of the patlent He stated that his duty was o advrse that a o

.patrent should not carry out military dutres but he would not know if his .

-advice was followed Srnce he was.not. in admmrstratlon, he would not B e

"know the consrderatrons that are ‘taken' mto account when promotmg a . '

o :servrceman. He stated that someone can be HIV positive and ‘work but. -
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: opportumstrc 1nfect10ns can cause them to be srck Some opportuni_stic'

’ 1nfect10ns can be controlled while others can be treated

" RW2 was Dr. Abynoty Peter Mulela presently on seeondrnent to the Zambia -
~‘Nationa]- Service ‘where he holds the position of Director of , Me'dical'” '

R Services. He stated that in ZAF in terms of medical assessments they usea

o manual called Zambra Arr Force Manual Assessment of Medlcal Fltness Vs

B “which'’ prov1des guidelines’ for assessments He explamed that the ﬁrst '
medlcal examlnatlon rs on recrurtment to allot the. candidate’ a specrﬁc
.medrcal standard of fitness. The. second one is -the - Annual Medrcal .

) ,Exammatlon whrch is mandatory as it is meant to see whether the person has

' mamtamed ‘the ﬁtness standard attained at t1me of reerultment The thrrd_,‘ - o

"rnedlcal exarnmatron is" the. re- engagement Whlch apphes to non-- e

comrmssroned ranks after attammg seven years- of service. although thrs has ;

'{now been abandoned Then there is the Medrcal Board Assessment Wthh is

o :conducted when there is an mdloa’uon that the servmg person is: encountermg .

_’ med1cal problems in executmg his duties in hls trade wluch is noted by the o

- statron The request for the Medrcal Board is made through Alr Headquarters;f ¥

*and. it rs' the Headquarters that convenes -the' Medlcal Board. Th__e Board»l’.._j s

‘co‘rnpri‘ses of three doctors. tholigh thel’resident of the Medical B‘oard"can/' ': Sl

co-opt another doctor and there. are. support staff attached to the, Board like

clerrcal staff chmcal officers and nurses. The Statron at. Whrch the Medreal IS

Board is to be held will mform the persons who' are to appear before it. The

Board would have med1cal documents and other relevant records ‘from any ‘

- hospital where the person recerved med1cal treatment Durmg the hearmg,‘

| “the Medrcal Board 1nterv1ews the person to ascertaln his condltron After

.1nteract1ng with the person, the Board makes its decrsron and its

& : R s
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g recommendatlons are: forwarded to Arr Headquarters through the Drrector of A

" Medical Services Who may or may not agree with the Medlcal Board’ S

L _recommendatrons Thereafter Air Headquarters informs the statron of the .
' outcome,ofthe Medlcal Board and i in turd they inform the service man who

appeared‘before the Board of the results. The assessment has:-what he ternl'e‘d

7 as two c_omponents - the capability of an :ind,iv.id_ualy to-‘perfolrm his duties o

the air designated with the-letter ‘A’ and the capability of-an‘individual' to

perform ground dut1es de31gnated with the letter ‘G’ Both components are <

. 'graded from -1 to 5. Al is the hrghest gradmg Al to A3 is for Arr pllots SRE v

meamng you give Al toa pllot who is ﬁt Ifhei is m]ured and heals of that s

**-injury he is graded A2 and can drop to A3 dependrng on his condltlon o

. .because of hrs duties. A4 is gradmg for everyone who is not a p1lot but who R

j'can be ,ﬂown asa passenger A5 means the person cannot be ﬂown evenasa ‘-

| -passenger The G component apphes to everyone Therefore he explalned'.,; e

that, “if you say A4G5 you are saymg the person can. ﬂy as a passenger or»_p-" T

~can be. evacuated without any problem G5 “means that person cannot w0,

¥ _f-perform ground m111tary duties and it entarls drscharge on rnedrcal grounds

' "Once results reach the station, the. person is. 1nformed and the statron w111 SR

. publlsh a Station Routine Order.

Under Cross- exammatron he sard that arthrrtls 1s both a. cause and a.'-:" .

i ,.drsablhty He explamed that the mrmmurn drsablllty percentage is 10% and

71n the case of the 2nd ‘petitioner they arrived at 15% dlsabrhty He explarned‘:i '

;vlthat A4G4 award 1s a temporal ﬁtness category which i means that elther the l"f‘__‘ " :

o person is.on treatment and will be requrred to appear before a Medical Board. AR

) :to review hlS category In such a case, the person contmues to carry out';”'“”f' o

o specrﬁed dutres mmus mrhtary duties to allow him to hea[ Accordmg to .
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o ‘RW2 once a Medical Board sits ‘and makes recomrnendanons these are -

'> forwarded to the relevant author1t1es and as a Board they would not l<now' )
whether their recommendatrons are followed or. not.- He adrmtted that in.
respect of the 2n petitioner he did not tender any written request to be 1et1red o

on medrcal grounds He stated that in ZAF they have people who are: I—IIV“

- ,posmve and who are grven light" duties. after being categonsed A4G4 He

stated that if-a person who is' HIV posxtlve develops an 1llness which

: '1ncapac1tates him then’ it becomes a problem

".Both learned counsels for the petrtloners and the State filed written

: submrssrons which are on record.

B Mr Mulenga learned counsel for- the petrtroners in. hrs lengthy submrssron S

.’submrtted mter aha that there are ﬁve 1ssues for determrnatlon thatis:

:(l) whether or not the petltroners were sub_]ected to mandatory/compulsory HIV testsﬁ i

- without their-consent.

(2) whether or niot the. Petitioners underwent proper pre and post test counselhng before,_’f O IR

being tested for HIV and whetlier or not they wereput on. ARV unknowingly. . e
(3) whether or not the petitioners were permanently medically unﬁt to perform ‘military .
- duties at the time of the medical board proceedings.

(4) whether or not the petitioners, were permanently- and* rnedlcally unfit to perform T

‘military.duties at the tine of their discharge from the m1lxtary

) whether-or not the decision to’ discharge the petltroners was 1nﬂuenced or. based onv "

thelr HIV status

'On the ﬁrst Jissue, “Mr. Mulenga subrmtted 1nter aha that the A1r Force'f";‘ KPS

‘.'Commander made. a - decision and 1ssued 1nstruct10ns to. subJect the‘

! pet1t1oners to mandatory and/or compulsory med1cal tests and examinations RO

'rlncludmg HIV tests. Mr. Mulenga submltted that the’ pet1t1oners underwent SRLE

' HIV tests w1thout bemg glven an opportumty to glve an’ 1nforrned consent'
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and that this const1tuted an 1nfrmgement and Vlolatron of the: pet1t1oners

fundarnental rrghts and freedoms under Artlcles 11, 13 15 and 17 of the. , ;

AN Const_rtunon_ of Zambra. “He argued that the decrslon tomake_ the petrtroner_s _:. S

undergo mandatory teéting was in conﬂict with and ‘contravéned their: rights 7. '
. under the Unlversal Declaration of Human Rrghts and the Afrrcan Charter on. -

o Human and People S R1ghts and their rlghts under Artrcle 112 d) and (e)of .

: flthe Con'strtutlon of Zambia. He argued that the HIV test was a del1berate and-:'i T

' mtentronal enterprrse authorlsed by” the ZAF Commander and was an

o " rmtratlve of Dr Matlpa Mr. Mulenga argued that the carrylng out of HIV

: "testlng was an. 1rut1atxve and brain child of Dr. Matrpa Who des1gned it after’

2 securing sources of ARVs. from ZAF Headquarters He submltted that from' : S

- the evrdence the petltloners testrng of blood samples by Dr Matlpa was not - o

' :by chorce as th1s was on orders from " superror officers and farlure to undergo B

e tests .would result_ n_l drserphnary measur_es berng.effeeted. He argued that ther L

. petitioners’ blood samples Were taken for HIV testing '\}Vith'out their express e

and/or informed consent or knowledge that: they Were berng tested for I—]]V -

' "Mr Mulenga pomted out that. Dr Imasrku’s (PW4) evrdenee emphasrzed the-" i, ,. ”

dmportance of adhermg to 1ntemat10nal gu1de11nes on HIV as: contarned m‘ :

' the UNAIDS/WHO Guldehnes Mr Mulenga took tlme to examme the R

N apphcatron of mternatronal gurdelmes treatres and fore1gn decrsrons andi.{;f S

e acknowledged that though they may not be blndmg on this court they are -

certamly helpful and can prov1de gurdance He 01ted several Zambran, _ R

authontres and Castell vs. De Greef (1) a South Afrrcan case where the',l R

“_‘"'Cape H1gh Court set out the- requirements of 1nformed consent statmg that . .

_-any person consentmg to medical procedure must (a) Know the nature and AN

o the extent of the harm or risk to be undertaken (b) Understand the’ nature SR =i

and extent of the harm or risk to be undertaken (c ) Agree to’ the harm or
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sk, (d) Agreé to all parts —of the harm or riék;tncluding the conSequence' 3 R

o Learned counsel submitted that. the pet1t10ners dld not receive. any

mformatlon regardmg the nature ‘purpose and repercussmn of bemg tested = »

. _for HIV They were: not mformed that they could decline to- submlt therr; '

o blood samples or refuse to be tested for HIV. In emphasmng hlS afgumentj_' '

' that rnandatory testmg isa V1olat10n of the fundamental rights:: and freedoms L L

~ he cited - Lewanlka VS, Fredenck Chiluba (2) ‘where the Supreme Court

T 'dechned to order the respondent to be subjected to DNA tesung wrthout hxs

" ,»consent because rt would v1olate hlS rlght to hberty and: secunty of the-iv:

person He -also referred to the case of Diau VS, Botswana Bulldmg Soclety s _
- -’(3) and Artlcle 6 of the Afrlcan Charter for Human and People s nght :
"“"_Artlcle 3 of the Umversal ‘Declaration of Human nghts and ‘the nght to;' T

e ‘., thberty under the Internatlonal Covenant on C1V11 and. Pohtrcal nghts whlch &

'he pomted out it requrres the obtammg of’ consent prlor 1o testmg for HIV-? o

L ' and that therefore mandatory testrng is a v1olat10n of the nght to hberty
‘4 : . .

‘ On the second issue of whether or not the petltroners underwent proper pref’ LT

and post testmg before bemg tested for HIV and whether they were puton

' ARVs unknowmgly Mr Mulenga re—empha51zed the need for pre and post: e

test cqunselhng and that th1s omission was'a Vrolatlon (as 1n ‘the ﬁrst 1ssue_( o

. .above) of thelr rlghts guaranteed. under Aticles. 11, 13, 15 and 17 of thef

Constrtutron of Zambla as ‘well as the Umversal Declarauon of Hurnan,_*“i;': Eh

/ '.Rxghts and the Afrlcan Chartel on Human and People s Rrghts ‘He argued:l, e

:that Dr Matlpa in his evrdence was not sure 1f pre and post counselhng Wasffl e '_ _ ,;:‘

- doneas he did not know what it 1nvolved and the fact that Ms. Z1mba who RS

_ '*alleged}y did the pre “and . post counselhng was not called as a w1tness:_'f i

'showeﬂ this was an afterthought He urged the cou“t to treat Dr: Matlpa s
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'-evrdence on thrs pomt as mere’ speculatron and 1nstead beheve the,_' R

'.Vpetrtroners versron of What transpned He referred to the Zambla Defence.
- Force Pohcy on HIV/AIDS whlch carne into effect in 2005 and subrmtted D
' "that prior to this there was no pohcy in place and that HIV and AIDS;

preventlon and care. and support 1ntervent10ns were 1mp1ernented in -

:_' _'1solat10n He argued that there berng no policy in place’ between 2000 6
*2002 D,r Matrpa and his colleagues had no gurdehnes to follow, and the
: ethlcal and psychologrcal aspects of mandatory HIV/AIDS testrng Were not’

e taken mto account: In the words of M. Mulenga “the pohcy of the-f.'w

‘Respondent effectrvely substrtuted a blanket of trlal official mandate for'." ‘

: 'm‘edlcal practitioners who had the drscretron tomake decisions in the lightof - o

" the circumstances: of their individual pati'ents perceived rnedical'conditions SPCER

s wrthout adhermg to any ethrcal or policy’ gurdehnes and standards w1th

v-,drsastrous medrcal and psychologrcal results for the people affected such as o

: “the petltroners

i He pornted out that the ev1dence of Dr. Imasrku and Professor Nkandu Luo, o =

i jemphasmed the 1mportance of pre-test counselhng before one is tested for o

- HIV-and as well'as post -test counselhng whrch focuses on the psychologrcal k

" and soc1a1 support to help the person berng tested cope wrth the nnpact of i

x-the result ‘and "to facrhtate access to care: and preventron services and R

'»:treatment if needed and drsclosure o others who may have been exposed He \ R

: argued that in the case of the petltroners rt 1s clear that even m1n1mum;~‘

i standards and requlrements for voluntary counselhng and testrng were not L

" met before putting t them on ARVs He crted the South Afrlcan case of C vs v ;,. '

o Mmlster of Correctlonal Servrces (4) where the court held inter alia that £

1nformed consent requrres proper pre and post fest counselhng He submrtted' o
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that the fact that the petltloners did- not receive’ the necessary pre and post:«

. 'counselhng vrolated their. rrght to protectron of personal hberty and securrty‘

-of the person, the rrght to protectron from mhuman and degradmg treatment -

and thgir rlght to prlvacy as well as therr rights under mternatlonal law and - .

treatres for Wthh they entrtled to damages from the State Further M. - "

' ‘Mulenga subrmtted that provrdrng the pet1t10ners w1th Antl—retrovrral'{i.

- treatment w1thout 1nf0rm1ng them of their HIV. status or pr0v1dmg them wrth SR -

. 'adherence counsellmg vrolated their nght to Life under Article- Il(a) read.» PR
vv1th Article 12 (1) of the Constitution of Zamb1a as. well Artrcle 6 of the/; S
Intematlonal Covenant on Civil and Pohtrcal Rrghts ‘and Artlcle 4 of the . _-.f R

o ) Afrrcan Charter, on Human and People s nghts

On’ the thrrd 1ssue whether -or* not the petrtloners were . permanently R V"f

e vmedrcaliy unﬁt to perform m1htary duties at the tlme of the medlcal board .

' ‘ proceedmgs Mr. Mulenga submrtted that at.the tune of appeanng before thej' LI

* Medical Board both petltloners were capable of performmg both mrhtary

~and trade dutles and that both petrtroners pr0V1ded evidence. to thrs effect. He s

R submltted that the 2°° petltroner did not request to. be retlred on. medrcal‘ -

;k E grounds ‘before, durmg or after the Medrcal Board ‘He- argued that both,}-{‘ .f,' -

'v.‘_‘pet1t1oners ‘were not mformed after appearlng before the Medrcal Board that, . ‘

' '._-.':they were recategorxsed A4G5 and that the: recommendatlon that they were' e

',not fit for' dutles was not put 1nt0 effect as they contmued with therr normal‘r:zf

- duties. He. argued that there is no evrdence to show that both petrtroners m’_ S

‘practlcal terms faﬂed or could not perform therr m111tary duties.

" “The fourth 1ssue is whether or ot the" petltloners were. permanently andf:' N

' med1cally unfit to perform 1n111tary duties at the time of their dlscharge from
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 the m111tary Under thxs head Mr Mulenga exammed the prov1srons of A

- ’Regulatxon 9 3) of the Defence: Force (Regular Force) (Enhstrnent and

o Servrce) Regulat1ons Thlrd Schedule Serral No (xv1) He argued that evenl W

o v assummg that the petltroners were medlcally unﬁt dt:the ttme of the: Med1ca1 . j. e

Board in October 2001 or-at the. time of thetr dlscharge 1n October 2002 e

. there is no medlcal or sc1ent1ﬁc ev1dence to show elther that they remarned : o

fmedlcally unfit perrnanently thereafter or: that they were ikely: to-remain‘so. PR

‘permanently He conceded that the pet1t10ners had medrcal complamts pr101 wl

: ‘-'f_to ‘the: Medlcal Board proceedlngs but he argued that the questron Stlll” o

o 'remarns Whether or not at: the ttme of dlscharge they Were rendered’

" 'V'permanently medtcally unfit for all forms of mrhtary service: based on. thev"—. .

_avatlable medical: evrdence He argued that in hght of the medlcal eV1dence"'f" E , -

~on record and the physrcal and med1cal condltlon of the pet1t10ners attime of L

dlscharge and beyond the petltloners had no permanent deforrnlty, drsabrhty, N

R allment or medical condtt1on Whlcl’l could render thern permanently unﬁt for'} !

' all forms of mthtary service. He pomted out that the Medtcal Board: assumed e

- ‘that the petltloners would be pennanently urifit to perform rnrhtary dutres not B e

a0 only in 2001 ‘but 2002 and forever ‘Mr. Mulenga addressed the questron of ;

. the medical ﬁtness of the petlttoners at the tlrne ‘of their: drscharge and what'bl;f"‘: ‘

e :happened after, the Med1cal Board s1tt1ngs of October 2001. In this regard hef' :

‘ urged the court to cons1der both the' pet1t1oners testlmony and that of the " 0

,' 'medrcal experts Lookrng at the ev1dence on record he argued that it would; _ =

. not be in order for the respondent to rnalntaln that the pet1t1oners were

‘l'permanently medrcally unﬁt for rn111ta1'y service at the tlme of dtscharge or - e

o ’.;:that they were likely to remain so pennanently as per Regulatlon 9 (3) of the

‘ Defence Force (Regular Foree) (Enhstment and Servrce) Regulat1ons, Th1rd,f ’

| , Schedule Serial - No. (xv1) of the Defence Act He subrnltted ‘that tne o -
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i

) respondent cannot therefore mvoke the provrstons of the sard Act and therr co

-',rehance on the sald provrsrons was . mlsplaced and erroneous. That the'

,declaratron that the petltroners be dlscharged for. being pennanently‘

medrcally unﬁt for all forms of mlhtary dutres was and. is premature,» ’

' ‘-1rrat10na1 unjustrﬁable, unfarr and unlawful due to the fact that the}‘-

- _condrtrons for declarmg one permanently medlcally unfit ‘were not met. i '

‘this case Mr Mulenga submltted that the petrttoners havmg demonstrated

. that they were and are med1cally ﬁt to work in the mrhtary, the1r rlghts to:}, o

wﬁ_securlty and adequate means of hvehhood and opportumty to obtarnru

' - employment as well as their rlght to social beneﬁts and arnenltles surtable to

thelr needs and the rrght and fair. labour. practrces recogmsed under Article: .

' 1112 (c). (t) and 0) of the Constitution of Zambra were v1olated M. Mulenga

' . concluded by argumg that therefore the petrtroners are entltled to damages "

- for the unfair and unlawﬁal drscharge as well- as the Jost opportumty to. L

o ,contlnue drscharglng thelr m111tary dutres 1n the Ajr Force '

k-—The ﬁfth issue is whether or not the dec1s1on to drscharge the petrtroners was :

e .based on therr HIV status. The argument put up. by leamed counsel is that .

o ‘bearlng in mlnd the foregomg a;rguments and the submxssron that the'

srespondent acted prematurely, 1rratronally, unfairly and unlawfully when 1t'; .

s decrded to chscharge the pet1t1oners from the mlhtary wrthout ascertammg' e

- .for a fact’ whether the petrtroners were permanently medrcally unfit to -

";perform all. forms of m111tary duties and that - they would remam soAf'f o

B permanently the real reason for dlschargmg them especrally that there was i

i ,‘,.no permanent medrcal condmon for- whrch they could have been lawfully v

o .j{idrscharged the respondents decrsron to drscharge them was based onor. . .

influenced by the1_r HIV status arising from the mandatory HIV tests whlch s
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X ‘they were subjected - He submttted that. this 1s based on the rnedlcal

.r‘-ev1denoe on record coupled Wlth the general attltude of the respondent: )
before and, after the pet1t10ners were tested for HIV. Mr. Mulenga submrtted o
. _that the recommendatron by the Medlcal Board that the petmoners be‘ '

e dlscharged on medlcal grounds had: to wait untll the petxtroners tested HIV o

posrtrve‘before it was acted upon by the Dlrector of Med1ca1 Serv1ces on 24“"

.VJuly 2002. Mr Mulenga argued ﬁlrther that' the cornrnunrcatlon of the::‘ '

‘J, approval of the recommendatron “for drscharge was. wrthheld from the '

',petmoners un‘ul October 2002. He argued that there. was no tangrble." e

& explanatron for the unwarranted delay in 1nform1ng the petrtloners about the *

L -‘,major dec:lsmn bemg made by thé respondent on anissue touchtng the -

- 4~"'pet1t1oners l1ves and dxrectly affectmg thelr nghts and mterest as bona ﬁde; g

e ‘.employees of the respondent Mr Mulenga submltted that should the court. -

N find in- favour of the petltloners that they ‘were discharged because of their

‘HIV status then he called upon the court to find- that the dec1s1on to

- drscharge them from the mlhtary on account of thelr HIV status amounted to.

‘7"‘-d1scr1mmatlon and v101ates ‘Articles (11a) 21, and 23 (1) and (2) of the':’ 0

S :‘Constttutlon He also submltted that thlS ceurt should find Regulatron 9(3) of 3 ]

i=the Defence Force (Regular Force) (Enhstment and Serv1ce) Regulatrons :1__»‘ j v

“'_‘Thlrd Schedule Serlal No (xv1) ‘of ‘the Defence Act ultra vires. the

o 'Constrtutron of Zambla ‘and the provisionis of 1nternat10na1 Law as it can be.

cused as, Iegal authority to discrirninate' against" persons. living "with T

o HIV/AIDS ‘Mr. Mulenga argued that HIV/AIDS isa const1tut10nal issue andr=
: emphas1zed that the petltloners have the rlght to be free from drscrnmnatlon i

o 'Mr Mulenga clted numerous authorttles 1o support h1s argument

In r'e"ply,' the respondent’s aduocates"responded‘ by following the order of
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reliefs sought l)y.the 'peti'tioners in their petition. They argued that the
_allegati‘on ‘that the periodic medlcal assessment'programme ‘was driven by a-
.' ‘desrre to assess personnel - who would be ehglble to access ARVs is

_,:rmsch;evous and. a. distortion of facts They submltted that as per the:

" evidence before court, rrnhtary personnel are subjected to annual medrcal - .

: f’assessrnent to 'c'onﬁrm(‘ their physical and médical‘ﬁthes’s forcornbat’duties‘

. They argued ‘that there i is. clear ev1dence that the petrtroners had a hrstory of

: ,chromc ill health Whlch requrred them to undergo the med1cal examrnatrons

- v»_They_ submitted th_at there i is no- ev1dence that the p_etr’noners were subjected :

o mandatory -HIV testing' and that Dr. Matipa’s evidence supports this. They

submrtted that Dr Mat1pa cont‘ rrmed. that dur1ng that perrod there were -

hm1ted access’ pomts for measurement of CD4 counts “and- V1ra1 load such
;that the dec1sron to commence a patlent on ARVs was mostly based on the
: 5doctor s cllnlcal assessment of the pat1ent and blood count. They submttted

_' 'that Dr. Mat1pa test1ﬁed that the petrtroners were counselled by the srster—m—

. charge and. later by hunself before he personally commenced them on ARVS

: —‘whtch he personally adrnlnlstered to ensure comphance They submrtted that B

. the petmoners were fully aware ‘of the medlcatron “they were takmg and

L ;"-'j-"cannot Claim that their blood samples were extracted from them w1thout

: their consent or knowledge They alluded to the 2““l petrtloner S ev1dence

jrwhere he adnntted in cross- exammatlon that he- was al1ve because of the _:

o medrcat1on Dr Mat1pa prescrlbed for hrm and that he only Wanted to go R

- "back for Work since he was now fit. The defence argued that the apphcatron

i ~of 1nternat1onal gurdellnes treatres and fore1gn dec1s10ns is mtsapplled and

. inot relevant to this case- as the pet1t10ners were counselled and knew fully
k bwell what they were: bemg treated for. They submltted that the fundamental
’ rights and freedoms enshrined under Artrcles 11, 13 15 17, 23 110 (1) and
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,1111 of the Constrtutlon of Zambla were. not v1olated They argued that

reference o Atticles 110 111 and 112 is misleading in that Article 111"

L expressly provrdes that these rrghts are not actlonable by themselves For
o »these reasons they argued that the: first and second 1ssues raised by the '

'~pet1t10ners in therr submrssrons should be d1sm1ssed

K In arguing the 2"d rehef sought as per the pet1t1on, the defence team also i

i 1ncluded thelr arguments on the fifth issue: raised by the: petrtroners Tn

‘ i argumg th1s point, the defence referred the court to exhlblt DMMI DMI\/B ' _
and DMM8 contained i in the Afﬁdav1t in Support of Answe1 They argued

l j"that both petrtloners have failed to show that they were chscharged from the

Arr force because of therr HIV- status “They referred to: the Employment

o Standard Codes and that the 2“" pet1t1oner s medrcal fitness' had dropped to’

_ ‘A4G5 a standard not fit for mllrtary serv1ce ‘Further they. argued that the Z“d :

) petmoner requested that he be: retired on’ medlcal grounds and that this is

contamed in his -own form (DMM3) and supported by Dr Matlpa 1n hlS' R

r,:eV1dence They argued ‘that the petltroners suggestlon that they were

“targeted’ victims whose ultlmate destmy was’ exclusmn from the mrhtary by o -

. [\'certam c1rcles 1n the mlhtary was mlschrevous In. examlnmg Regulatlon 9"

~(3)of the Defence Act (Regular Force) (Enhstment and Servrce) Regulatrons

“of the Defence Act under which the petltroners were dlscharged the defence _‘ o

. :~subm1tted that ‘the. ‘term permanently medlcally unﬁt is deﬁned 1n the.‘

Zambla Arr Force Manual Assessment of Medical Fitness (APZZ701) whlch; .

' r"fdeﬁnes the employment standards They argued that -the petrtroners are“" ’

V . "_mrsleadmg the court by suggestmg that the term permanently unfit’ means it

is: only HIV/AIDS which .can be con51dered mcurable and therefore e

permanent’ They submitted that according to the Manual Assessment of
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i Medical F1tness a permanent employment standard xs one whrch in the; S

‘ oplmon of the Medtcal Board 1s unltkely to- requrre revrew ‘within a” = 5

, mrmmum perlod of 18 months The defence argued that the petrtroners were 2

V a srck from 1998 and 1993 respectrvely before they appeared before the

T . Medreal Board They argued that the Medical Board results eould have been{j

quest1oned if the petrtroners had: stayed more than 18 months wrthout belng‘ o

",drschatged They argued that the Manual allows the D1rector Medrcal s y

Serv1ces to sit as. approvmg authorrty for all Medrcal Board proceedmgs

' 'IjOIlCC every two months to complete part 4 of the Form They subrnrtted that y S

i the Dn‘ector Medrcal Services sat to approve the Medrcal Board’s ﬁndmgsf‘

L _after 6 ‘months which cannot be regarded as-an unreasonable trrne to warrant' L

. tnvalrdatrng the Medical Board proceedmgs In relation to Regulatron 93 L

B of the Defence Force (Regular Force) (Enlrstment and Servrce) Regulatrons R

’:‘ _'they subm1tted that the regulatlon is good: law Whrch should be upheld by the. R

court and that the pet1t10ners have failed to demonstrate how Regulatron 9 P

,(3) 1nfr1nges upon: the rrghts and freedoms of the serv1ce personnel m“vf’: ‘

f’relatlon to the Constrtutron of Zambra They urged the court to drsmrss the o

rehef sought..

i 'On the 3rd relref whrch relates to the Defence Force HIV and AIDS Polrcy g

'wluch they submltted is now berng nnplemented they submrtted that

- voluntary counselhng and testmg is provrded at all Defence Force health o

o care faellrtres They submrtted that both pet1t1oners conﬁrmed that they

' ‘contmue to recerve health care and support from the Arr Force even after

B 8 retrrmg from the Air Force in 2002 They submrtted that there is no evrdence o

. to shoW thiat the Air Commander acted contrary to the spirit and’ mtent of thef‘ R

stated government policy and. guidelines. Th_ey argued that the 3M relref_
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should be dismissed more so that —the petitioners did not even address it'\in :

-, theirsubmissions.

) CIn relatron to the fourth rehef sought, the defence argued it together wrth the

e 34 issue rarsed by the’ pet1t1oners They submrtted that it is- absurd for the

v'pet1t1oners to argue that srmply because they appeared in umform at the
: Medlcal Board hearmg, th1s means that they were fit for mlhtary dutles ‘

They argued that this submrssron contradlcts the pet1troners own wrltten

. statements submrtted when they appeared before the’ Med1ca1 Board They, '

s submltted that glven the. medlcal condltlon of the petltloners at the time they S

' ‘appeared before the Medlcal Board it was ‘not. ‘strange that they were

-recategorrsed They further argued that even after medrcal dlscharge the. \

,;petrtroners contmued belng sick: They pomted out that m DMMl6 found in .

the- Affidavit 1n Support of the Respondent’ Supplementary

f(Contemporaneous) Doouments there 1s a copy -of the letter. from - -

o 'Lrvmgstone General Hosp1tal dated 7 December 2()02 showmg that the 15"

e ?"-petmoner needed K30 000 OOO to undergo treatment in Zlmbabwe or South '

: Afrrca They also alluded to SK16 in the 1% petltloner s afﬁdavrt,m reply" o
dated 27th March 2007 whlch 1s a referral from ZAF Chmc to the ART

B *Chmo at lemgstone General Hospltal The Referral shows the 1S petrtloner._‘:k, o

S had been on Vmcrrstme Sulphate and Actmomycm “for kaposrs sarcoma of _

' ».'lower extremltles and was bemg referred for further adv1ce They pomted S

. ', out that this was 5 years after bemg dlscharged from ZAF In respect of the:

pet1t1oner they pomted out that in. hxs Afﬁdavrc in Reply there is'a noteb 3

L marked ‘SK20 Wh1ch was ‘a referral to SEPO Centre requestmg for. their

Aas51stance and that thls was on 8" May 2003 Wthh is. 8 months: after bemg

dlscharged from the Zambra Air Force. The defence argued that there is . ‘
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CE therefore sufﬁCIent ev1dence to-show that the petltroners rematned medrcally

- unfit for a long tnne after therr drscharge They submitted that itis absurd for
‘the. b pet1t10ner to-produce a certificate dated lSt May 2008 from the; Zambla-:

) 1Federatron of Employers showmg that he was a- dlscnphned worker. Agam o

the 2™ petrtloner produced a letter frorn Chrna GEO Engrneermg : L

" ‘:“Corporatlon hlS former employers dated 10™ June 2008. The argument by

the defence is. that both of - these documents are not medical ﬁtness
: cert1ﬁcates showmg that the petltloners are it for 1n111tary duty. The defence :
"prayed that the court dlsmlsses the 4 rehef sought which they state 1s_:

' frelated to the 3rd and 4th 1ssue rarsed in the petltloners submlssrons

. The defence argued the 5“‘ and 6" rehefs together ‘They- submrtted that‘

i .damages can, only be clalmed for civil wrongs both in contract and Iin tort:

) They argued that the petrtloners have not shown what breach 3 was caused to;"f

their contract of. employment or what personal 1njury or pain they are .-

i 'currently suffermg Accordmg to the defence, the pubhcrty that th1s petmon' ':‘

. has recerved at: the mstlgatron of the pet1t1oners in the print and electromc '

"l 'medra, shows that thelr motivation for commencmg legal proceedmgs is not S

) 2 based on prmcrple or legal grounds. They submltted that the dlscharge of the T

‘ nspetrtrcners was done w1tlnn the conﬁnes of the law after they appeared‘f e

:;before a duly constrtuted Medical Board whrch found them unfit for mlhtary ‘

~ service “and dlscharged them accordmgly in terms of the prov1s10ns of'

i Regulatron 9 (3) of the Defence Force (Regular Force) (Enllstment and

Serv1ce) Re_gulatxons of the Defence Act. The defence argued that the c_larm_ '

R for Tost :oppt)rtur‘l‘ity ‘to 'c’ontinue WOrkihg‘When they were declared llnﬁt for‘f. 7_

'-all forms of mlhtary dutles is mlsconcelved and that the prayer for these
k :rehefs should be dlsmrssed
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. The defe‘n(:e concluded by urging the court to dismiss the petition with costs. ‘

.dI have cons1dered the evrdence before me and the submissions by learned[ C

b_ counsels for both partles I am 1ndebted to. them for their very helpful : -

. : submrssmns and in- depth research

: *From the outset I Would like to pomt out that it.is trite law that he who

- ’ialleges must prove and in thrs case the burden is on. the pet1t10ners to prove‘ s

. their case on a preponderance of probablhty The rules of procedure ‘demand

* that partles be bound by thelr pleadmgs In Byrne vs. Kanweka (5) the court‘- =

_sald “Fundamentally, of course partres are bound by thelr pleadrngs and."' )

'v*“eVldence outs1de the pleadmgs Would ordmanly be excluded ‘as .

_,rnadmrssrble 7 In thrs case, it is in the petrtlon where the Petrtloners have

:spec1ﬁed thelr cla1m or prayer Surprrsrngly, counsel for: the petltloners in .

~"his, subn'nssmns departed from the reliefs sought in the petmon and urgedv_ '

: 'the court to determme the ﬁve issues mentloned herern e has completely

B 1gnored the prayer in the pe‘utron In reply, the defence demded to focus o . -

‘ '{,the prayers in the petltlon and rlghtly S0, and argued them together w1th the -

P ._'1ssues ra1sed inthe petltroners subm1ss1ons As the defence observed n therrf i

' "'submlssrons 1t 1s not clear whether the petltroners have abandoped ‘the

“'rehefs sought rn the pet1t10n as they completely left them "out and .

'concentrated on the five i 1ssues Wthh they want thrs court to determme This

) krnd of: departure from the pleadlngs at. submlsswn stage cannot be

encouraged as-it tends fo. confuse matters. It would have been prudent and e

v-‘orderly for learned counsel for the petltloner to address the ﬁve issues w1th1nt ., '
his argurnents under any of the reliefs sought in the petition. I cannot. 1gnore

. "the prayers (rellefs sought) in the- petmon and merely address the five issues
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raised by the petitioners.in isolation. This would be a misdirection‘o’n my ,“.
| part. In 1ny view, this court is obhged to determlne the prayers in the petltron -
-as pleaded Of course, the- petltloners had the optlon from the outset of these
' '_proceedmgs to elearly show that these five issues were the issues. at the heart -
- of this pet1t1on 1nstead of brrngrng ~these quest1ons at the stage. of : )
- submrssrons At the same t1me I bear in mind that the pet1t10ners addressed '
, these questlons partly durrng the1r evidence and in cross- exammatlon, ’

: however, it was not clear that these were: the questrons at the heart of the

maiter. To this end, I must say that the petltloners have been unfair to the

’respondents who have had to respond to these issues in thelr submissions as,

7 .:‘well those.pleadedspemﬁcally.m the petl_tton..,,, IR

) ,Turmng to. the main matter 1t is not in dlspute that the petrtloners were

. drscharged fromx ZAF i in October 2002. It is not in dlspute that prior to their. -

.“dlscharge they attended before a Medrcal Board ~which found them to be

*’_unﬁt 0. perform all forms of m111tary dutles and recommended for thelr.,

. jdlscharge on medrcal grounds pursuant to Regulatron 9.(3) of the Defence '

. Force (Regular Force) GEnhstment and Serv1ce) Regulatlons It is. fiot ln.;.f:

3 :dlspute that after appearing before the Medical Board the peutroners were o

g 'among those who were ordered through a Station’ Routme Order to submit to

L a medlcal check up It is also not in dlspute that the medrcal ‘check up ;

2 1ncluded blood tests. It is also not 1n d1spute that the petltloners are Stlll E

attendmg the: ZAF Chmc where they are accessmg free ARVs Itis also not g

‘ in dlspute that followrng their dlscharge in 2001 the petmoners were pard:"

s their: terrmnal benefits in. full It is noteworthy that after their discharge; they i

- later found employrnent in var1ous mstrtutrons
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'Frrstly, {a)the petrtroners pray that it may be determmed and declared that the -

: respondent’ s decision to- subject them to. mandatory and compulsory medical test
" 4nd ‘examinations mcludmg HIV/AIDS without their express and/or informed .
._fvconsent as-well:as pre and post test counsélling .

i) is‘ultra vires Article 11 of the Constltutlon of Zambia

- 1) Is.a violation of the petltmners nght to personal hberty under Artlcle 13 of the
) Constitution of Zambia

m) 1t violated the. petltloners’ nght to protectlon from lnhuman and degrading -

.treatment. guaranteed under Article 15 of the Constitution of Zambia _
2. iv)-Was.a violation of the petitioners’ rlght to prlvacy guaranteed under Arhcle 17
. of the Constitution of Zambia

.v):Constituted a violation of thelr rlghts to adequate medrcal and health faclhtles

and'to- equal and adequate educational opportumtles in all fields and at all levels as

: N ; __provrded for under Article 112 @ and (e) of the Constltutlon of Zambia..

: I wrll at the same tlme deal wrth the 1St and Z“d 1ssues whrch in my view are -
| related to thrs questron The petltroners evrdence on th1s aspect whlch was"

. _supported by PWS was that there was a' Stahon Routrne Order by the Statron g .
’_;Commander lemgstone whrch compelled them to attend medrcal check up i

‘ at the Chmc In the words of Dr Mat1pa

C o “ZAF approved our 1ecommendatron and both of them were drscharged on - medrcal'_._
: grounds In the 1ntervenmg period before discharge - ‘when I came to ZAF L1v1ngstonel -
" noticed the number of" personnel that were not doing well in‘terms of health: That was the
" time when in the country we.saw the coming in.of ARVs and the ZAF was spearheadlng.
this issue-and con51der1ng my responsibility as Station Medical Officer looking after the i+
" “health-of personnel ‘and. their. families, 1 asked the Dlrector :of Medical: Services.to ..
 ‘consider supporting us in terms of providing ARVs. He gave us a go~ ahéad and we .
v - arranged a programme for all* staff that were not domg well to undergo testmg and’
L counselhng : . . :

In cross exammatron he sard

" “We had 4 situation where ZAF was burymg every ‘week and we had to take action to.V .
. stop’ thrs and:the measures; which were put in place have helped ZAF even up to the time I -

teft. . In most ‘cases T looked at them and recommended for counselhng [ “took-into’

" account their condrtlon and hrstory It was: necessary to help our: personnel and have, L
- workers Who were healthy.” : - .
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: Dr. Mulele (RWZ) explamed that there were four types of Medlcal ’
'Assessment or exammatlons in the Defence Forces and thrs Is not in dlspute ‘_ :
‘.However the petrtroners evidence is that the medlcal examination whlch‘

' 'they underwent followmg the postmg of the Stat1on Routine Order was not

4_"_an annual medrcal ‘assessment and thls is my ﬁndmg The medrcal

‘ exammatron in 1ssue whrch resulted in thexr blood belng extracted and Wthh ke

; accordlng to them was an unusual one, was done after the’ Medrcal Board'

made the recommendatron that they be dlscharged on medrcai grounds In .‘ ‘

i ‘any event Dr. Matrpa has not- demed that- blood samples were taken from the -

SR 'came out clearly in h1s evrdence

. petrtloners and that he conducted the medrcal check up-after- the petltroners

had appeared before the Medlcal Board and - before the ﬁnal decrslon tor' :

: 'drscharge them was commumcated 1 ﬁnd however that there i isno ev1dence_ '

'l.‘,':'to support the argument that the petltroners were ‘targetted’ or that this = -

' exer01se was a ‘dehberate and mtent10nal enterpr1se authorised by the ZAF

| Commander as argued by ‘the petltloners As Statron Medrcal Ofﬁcer Drr ‘

- - fMatlpa was responsrble for the well-bemg of ZAF personnel and thelr-{ -

o famrhes At the - same tnne 1t cannot be denied that whatever Dr. Matrpa did, R

| "-carrled the blessmg of h1s superlors w1th whom he had consulted and- thrs-" .
. ) i )

T must say that 1 was surprrsed 10 hear Dr. Matlpa state that the petltroners_ -

' iwent through pre—test counselhng and post-counsellmg Thls is because the -

; fdefence did not “take . the petrtroners to task on th1s 1ssue m cross-f: ;

S examination. The. defence did not address the questlon of mandatory testmg N

L thelr‘ cross-examrnatron of the;petmoners, yet this issue was ralsed by bo_th :
i fpetitioners‘}/in.‘ their. evidence. The .petitioners’ eyidence‘ on this issue
. remained unchallenged. Listening to Dr. Matipa, it was clear to me that he
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~observed that there were some sick looking personnel in ZAF and some. _
_were dy1ng and therefore he decrded to 1ntervene and take measures, byv_,' :
- getting some, llke the pet1tloners tested based on his own dragnosts Quite
: :clearly and with good rntentrons Dr Matrpa set out to have ‘the ZAF‘
mpers‘onnel who were unwell tested for HIV to save their lives and as. the -
defence have pointed out - the 20 Petitioner expressed his gratitude as he .

l acknowledged that hrs life was preserved through the treatment commenced'
by Dr Matlpa Indeed what is'in 1ssue 1n my ‘view is not ‘that the medlcal‘ ’
exammatron rtself was compulsory but the fact that 1t 1ncluded an HIV test .
which was taken wrthout the petrtroners mformed consent I am aware, as e
'alluded o’ by. the «defence, that in this country, the Employment Act allows |

) "appllcants for ernployment to undergo compulsory med1cal examlnatlons

' - '.’,Thls is also the same for those who are- applymg for a drrvers hcence and 50 N

on As the petltloners stated in therr ev1dence they found ‘the procedurel ‘

strange because therr blood sample was taken Wthh had ‘ot happened

-‘before in prevxous mechcal exammatrons Of course, if any testlng is donefr, ;

'.wrthout someone ’s consent it means it “is mandatory And srnce the

: 'petrttoners were: not’ cross- exammed on thrs 1mportant pomt of mandatoryf 0

""”testrng,o as 1. listened- to Dr.. Mat1pa I reahsed that h1s evrdence that thelby‘

”petrtroners were counselled before and  after” belng tested was anr

| 'afterthought In Lewamka -and Others vs. Chiluba (2) crted by the

‘ “petmoners Lewamka J at Page 135 sard

ﬁ“The questron of consent is of cardmal 1mportance and was consrdered by the House of .

. * Lords in the case of Sv.$ which T have already referred- to'and Twould like to quote from -

the speech of Lord Reid at- ‘page 111:“] must how examine the present legal position with » N

" regard to: blood tests. There-isino doubt that-a petson of full age and capac1ty cannot.be

" "ordered to undergo a'blood:test against his will. In my, view, the'reason is dot that he-.
. ought not to be required to furrish evidence which may tell against him. By d1scovery of

documents and'in other Ways the law oftén does this. The real reason is that' English law
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.. goes to great lengths to. protect a person of fall age and oapacity from interference with ‘
- -his-personal liberty. We have too often seen freedom disappear in-other countries not-

~only by coup d’etat but by gradual erosion; and often’ itis the first step that counts. So it -
- would be unwisé-to- make even minor concessions; It is:true that the ‘matter -is regarded -

differently -in. the ‘United States;. We' were referred to a number. of state enactments -

. authorising ‘the. courts to order adults to submlt to blood tests. They may:. feel ‘that this is

" - safe because of their, geographical position, size, power or. resources. or because they have '+ .

g written Constitution. -But here parhament has ciearly endorsed ‘our view by the

provrslon of S 21 (1) of the 1969 Act ¥

) '1 ’vChlrwa J at Page 129 sald

o "‘It was also argued that thlS is an rmportant constrtutlonal issue touchmg on the ofﬁce of o
_the President of the nation, I hold the view that the more 1mportant the issue is, the:more ..

. stringent- proof are demanded and the importance of the .issue cannot be used to induce

.the. court to ‘exercise a non-existent -inhérent Jurlsdlctlon and -which whenused may.

-amount to an 1nfr1ngement of dn individual right or prmleges For the foregoing reasons,

. _. 1 would refuse’ the apphcatron 1o drrect the respondent to glve a blood sample or-other -~ a

B body- trssue for exammatlon

g Gomg by the above authorlty, the Supreme Court recognrsed that extractmg' ,

S a blood sample frorn any person w1thout hlS or her consent lnfrlnged o
respondent to go for-a ‘DNA test. Thls ‘case -underscores the stand that.

freedoms enshrlned in our Constrtutron Thrs court is at 1arge to consrder and e
i "take 1nt0 account provrsrons of 1nternat1ona1 mstruments and decrded cases}k
‘ . ;f in other countnes The Zambran courts are not operatrng in 1solat10n, and any -

: ;'fde01sron made by other courts on any aspect of the law is worth consrderlng P

In Sata vs. The Post Newspapers (6) mted by Mr Mulenga, Ngulube CJ as. '

: he then was sa1d

o 1nd1v1dua1 nghts They reﬁlsed to grant the apphcanon to compel - the,,

vZamblan courts have taken on- issues touchlng fundamental rrghts and =2

Cae

. “T'make reference to the intenational 1nstruments ‘becailse I am aware of a growing
. movement towards acceptance of the domestic apphcatron of 1nternatronal human rights. -

 norms not.only to assist to tesolve any doubtful issues in the' interpretation of* domestic

lawin domestic htrgatron but also because the opinions of other senior courts in"the .-
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vanous Jurtsdrctrons deahng wrth a; srmllar problem tend to have a persuasrve value At

- - the yery. least, considerdtion of such  decisions - may’ help us to formulate ‘our own -
- - preferred ditection which; given the context of our own situation and the: state of our own - '

: "laws may be drfferent to-d Iesser or: greater exten

- In* this ﬁrst 1ssue under d1scuss1on the quest1on of 1nforrned consent 1s '

‘ cardlnal The case of Alredale NHS Trust Vs. Bland (7) clearly supports the S

f‘-_‘petmoners case that they Were in a pos1t10n to make the1r own dectsron B

: whether or not 10 have an’ HIV test Therefore the questlon of what was in’

- the best 1nterest of the pet1t10ners cannot be an 1ssue in thrs ease In Alredale e .

‘jNHS Trust vs. Bland (7) the story was dlfferent s1nce Anthony Bland

. :=lacked the capacrty to give consent to medrcal treatment ln the case under . »

oonmderatron, there is no- evrdence to show that the petmoners Were unable' .

g _;_'fto grve the1r consent to undergo an HIV test As I have found Dr Matrpa

formed his’ own med1cal oprmon because of the condltron of the petltroners o

‘ and dectded that they should ‘have an HIV test and he went ahead and '

o arranged for the- same and when the results came. out he proceeded to. put

.r*them on ARVS wrthout 1nforrn1ng them Lord Mustrll at Page 8%59 1n the :
o L- Axredale NHS Trust vs. Bland (7) case sa1d ' ‘ s

Bt the patient is capable of rnakmg a dects1on on. Whether 10 perrmt treatment and dec1des S .
" pot-to permit it his choice must be obeyed, even if on any objective view it is contrary: to'

* his best 1nterests A doctor has no right 10 proceed in the face.of ob]ectlon even if it 1s v '} _' :

B iplam toall, 1ncludmg the patrent that: adverse consequences and death will.or may ensue

"«lndeed th1s is how 1mportant consent is.and in the case of HlV testmg, we

e are referrmg to not only to consent but 1nformed consent Tt is possrble that ™

- someone can give thelr consent wrthout knomng and understandmg fully o

what they are consentlng to This was prec1sely the issuethe’ House of Lords o

- ,z-dealt with in Chester vs. Afshar (8) where the patrent consented fo a rlsky ‘
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operatron yet she was not warned of the rrsk mvolved It is now an N

o "acceptable fact that an informed demsron is the best declSlOIl that any person.

‘__'can make on any issue touchrng their hves In Diau vs. Botswana Bulldmg‘ L

» A,Socrety (3) whlch mvolved a Woman who refused to undergo an HIV: test the st
- court had thrs to say ' |

“Informed consent is premrsed onthe view that the person to be tested is the master of his’ -
own life and- body: In‘the ‘premises it should followthat the ultimate décision whether or .

' -not to’ test Ties “‘with - hlm or her; not the employer not.even the: medical doctor The
_purpose *of “informed consent is to honour a person s rlght to self determmatron and

~’freedom of chorce

L cannot 'agree more. Further in An'ckland Area‘Health Board VS A. G:(9) :

' g '_(Vat 245 (01ted in Re A (chlldren) (conjomed twms surgrcal separatlon (10) L R

‘ ”Thomas J sard

v ,"‘Human drgmty and personal pnvacy belong t0 every person’ Whether hvmg or dyrng
3 Turnlng to The Afrlcan Charter on Human and Peoples R1ghts rt provrdes

~“Artrcle 4: Human bemgs are mvrolable Every human belng shall be entltled to respect -

o for his hfe and the- 1ntegr1ty of his person No. one may be. arbnrarrly deprived ‘of thrs o

:ii-'rlght : PR
7 Article 5 Every 1nd1v1dual shall have the rlght to the respect of the dlgmty 1nherent ina -
- human ‘being-and to the’ recognltron of his legal status.-All forms of . explmt&tron and -

oy _%,degradatlon of man partlcuIarly slavery, slave trade; t_erture cruel mhuman or, degradmg -

R pumshment and treatment shall be prohlblted

) The ‘I'n'ternational Covenant‘ioh’ Civil’ and Political Righte adds its own voice -

';'to th1s 1mportant subJect of fundamental rrghts and freedoms ‘and the' L

: preservatlon of a person s drgnlty and 1ntegr1ty Each one > of us has a rlght to,‘ . ,k

V "'make our own chorces Specrﬁca]ly, our own - Constrtutron provrdes 1n,7",

N ;="\Art1c1e 15 that

e “A person shall ‘not be subjected to torture of to mhuman or degradmg pumshment or’
S other hke treatment” (1tahcs 'mne) ‘
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8 Art-iéle 17 (1) reads: :

rExcept wzth Ius own consent a person shall not be sub]ectea' to the searclt of hts persan . -

e _or hlS property or- the entry by others on’his premlses (1ta11cs mrne)

L am cqnvmced that no pre and post counselhng ‘was done because 1f thrs‘ '

L was the case the defence would have made this an issue in cross-

' 'exammatlon The defence concentrated mamly on provmg that the

_*petltloners were dlscharged because of therr medlcal condltron and not.-:

) 'because they were. HIV posrtlve At. the same tune T must say that Dr.

' ',Matrpa 's ev1dence on- thls aspect was not convmcmg and it is- clear that he -7

‘ f:demded that the: petrtroners should; have an HIV test because of thelr medrcaliﬁ :

o hrstory and’ condrtlon at the t1me I ﬁnd that the petltloners were subJ ected to

"to the authorities c1ted herem 1 ﬁnd that the petltloners rlght to protectron -

; _'mandatory testmg Wlthout therr consent and that they were put on ARVs B

. unknowmgly Thrs was'a grave error on the part of the doctor Havmg regard .. '

= from 1nhurnan and degradmg treatment under Artlcle 15 the nght 10 pr1vacy o

. .under Artrcle 17 were vrolated T must hasten to note that after the petrtmnersf o

3 were put on ARVs they responded posrtlvely to the treatment and this 1s'.: o
o ;‘::gomg by therr own ev1dence but thrs does not take away the fact that thelr,_,'

: ﬁmdamental rrghts to pr1vacy and protectron from mhuman treatment Were S

L ‘mfrmged

e ”‘The other 1ssue rarsed by Mr Mulenga is that the petttloners were put on: - i

'k"‘_I':ARVs wrthout recewmg the necessary adherence counselhng thereby'

"y ;vrolatlng thexr rights. under the Constltutlon and other mternatlonal i

-.J-flnstruments The. ls' petltloner s evrdence was that he stopped takmg the'

o ,medlcatlon after two months and ‘the petltroners want to put the blame on the SN

2
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‘ 'doctor On th1s pornt 1 must find that this is not true Dr. Mat1pa was very ;
,concerned about the well berng of the peutloners hence ‘his- demsron to put
_fthem on ARVs and'1 cannot 1mag1ne that the very person who dec1ded to
i save theu lrves would- merely prescrrbe medrcatlon w1thout giving: the_ :

© necessary- counsel Takmg into. account the crrcumstances of this case, 1

.‘.beheve the evrdence of the doctor on th1s pomt and I take the view, that itis.

s probable that the 1%} petltloner after feelmg better decided to abandon takmg o

: : "’;the medlcrne - if 1ndeed he d1d In fact on thlS pomt it was Dr Matrpa s

evrdence that he managed the pe‘utxoners up to 2003 and this was. aﬁer they ,‘7'."

. were drscharged Baswally, the 1% petitioner wants the court to belreve that -

; '-he only resumed takmg ARVs in 2005 when the same was prescnbed to hrm" :

L ) : at the Kahngahnga Clnnc “Yet both petrtroners told Dr. Walublta that they‘

e were on ARVs smce 2002 The submrssron by the petrtroners that they Were’ :

not g1ven adherence counselllng is not tenable under the c1rcumstances

' -.:The pet1t10ners also cla1m that they suffered a vrolatron of therr rrghts to e

S adequate medrcal and health facrhtles and to equal and adequate educatlonal' '

ropportunrtles in-all ﬁelds and at all levels as provrded for under Artrcle 112; : :

- (d) of the Constltutlon The pet1t1oners testlﬁed to how the respondent has. '

R assrsted them over the years by Prov1d1ng medlcal treatment In fact the Z“d' SR )
SN pet1t1oner paid tr1bute to the respondent and he explamed that’ he strll prefers' e

to attend treatment’ at the respondent’s cl1nrc, because it is more conducrvef

" than other government clinics. With regard to this clarm the Const1tutron e

makes 1t cleari in Art1cle lll that the Directive Prrncrples of State Pohcy set- o

: out in Part X of the Const1tut1on shall not be ]ustlcrable and shall notbe .

E 'legally enforceable by themselVes The petitioners have argued that in th1s -

“  case, the Directives are ot relied upon “by themselves and that thls makes
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: "'them legally enforceable 1 do not agree The petrtroners have’ shown 0.
- » eV1dence to’ support the argument that therr rlghts under Article 112 Were
.1nfrmged The court is ‘not-in position to make a declaratron whleh is not '

: -_»supported by ev1dence Th1s part of the claim has no. merrt and it must farl
The second prayer by- the petltloners is: That it may be determmed and declaredi..
“that the respondent’s decision :to discharge. .and/or exclude  the petmoners on: .

-~account of their HIV/AIDS status on medical grounds premised on Section 9 (3)-of

‘the- Defence F orce(Regular Force) (Enhstment and “Service) Regulatrons, Third

‘»Schedule Serial No. “(xvi) ‘was. and -is ultra vires the ‘Constitution- of Zambia, the -

- Universal Declaiation . of Human Rights, -the : Afrlcan ‘Charter -on. Human and_
L People s nghts and the Internatlonal Covenant on Cwnl and Pohtrcal nghts in that

i)t v101ates the ﬁJ.ndamental rlghts and freedoms guaranteed under Artrcle 11of the
" Constitution of Zambia. :

S dtisa violatiori of the Petitioners’ rrght to freely assocrate guaranteed under Artrcle
+- 21 ofthe Constitution.of Zambia,

i nx) it is d1scr1m1natory and:a violation. of therr right to protectlon from discrimination on :

“account of the1r HIV/AIDS status guaranteed under Article 23 of the Constitutlon of

-Zanibia. - -
S v ‘constituted- a v101at10n of thelr right to secure and adequate means‘of hvehhood and L
' opportpmty to obtam employment recogmzed under Artrcle 112 (c) of the Constltutron;' i

. of Zambia. . L

* )it violated their right'as dlsadvantaged persons to somal beneﬁts and amemtres as are kS :
surtable to therr needs and are Just and equltable : :

ThlS prayer 18 obvrously connected and is basrcally the same as the 5 issue “ N

rarsed by ‘the petltroners i: e whether or not the demsron to- dlscharge thef‘ -
. i"petltroners was'. based. -on therr HIV status,” The petrtroners base therr’l'
) argument on. the medrcal ev1dence on record and on the general attrtude of U

- the respondent before and after they Were tested for HIV

4 At the trme the petrtroners appeared before the Med1cal Board thrs is What :

) ﬁthe 1S petr’noner presented in wr1t1ng : , ‘
! :The problem Ihave is' swellmg of the rrght leg from the knee Jommg downwards up to v
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the toes. The other problem is pain in the bones especially i in the pelvrc joint, knee ]omts
.“and other bones from: ‘the kiiee. going downwards. The pain normally ‘becomes severe-if [
happen to-stand for a long time or if I walk a distance. This started in’ 1998 when I was'a
bandsman. T was exposed to “standing for a long time and walking Since 1998 the paln'

" ‘has become perrnanent and-the swelling has now worsened, One side of the leg is now .

- becoming ‘hard that is when. the SMO lerngstone referred- me to Livingstone General
. 'and diagnosed and said: it is first impression KS. As at. now I' cant even work ‘properly

'because «of 'severe pain:and swellmg of the leg and I was ‘told that KS-normally reoccurs

" “after 4 certain penod Tn'my opmron ‘the-cause of the disease was standrng fora long tnne R

© and rnarchlng whloh resulted in the swelling of the leg and later'severe paln
_" P 8 . - T . ) } ";.“"

Clearly, the 1 petltroner ] cond1t10n had- been per51stent since: 1998 and he . o

o had been- attended | to by doctors but he concedes in his own, statement above i
_ -_"that his condrtron was worsenrng In the oplnron of the doctors he was found"’
“tobe unfit for all forms of mrhtary duties and hence the 1ecommendatron for _

- 'hrs drscharge
it urning to the, Vi petitioner this i_s“-Wh’at he wrote: -

“ Thave two drsabrlmes on my. body The first drsabrhty is rny right leg whrch contlnues to.

5 swell.. This started in 1993 ‘when T was a drill instructor at ‘ground: training school in -

Kabwe: 1 was “taking my . students in Drill lessons when-one day whilst. at. the same’
; ,:school(GTS) ] started . feeling: 'some _sharp: pain «in my - leg “This ‘pain contrnued and -
eventually my leg started swelling. T was first admitted to the school sick’ quarters Thenl-

L later went to- Ndola Central” ‘Hospital. I thén went'to Chikankata Hospital- for the same- -

“problem: After undergomg these treatments Tiniproved and I'started weating shoes. Now

’currently the problem am facrng with my leg is that when'it is very cold I experlence alot . _’ _. L

“of pain-in my leg until T get some parn killers. Also“when it'is very-hot I experience: the
* 7 same pain. When Lwalk atound for sometime it swells-and it reduces the swelling when I i
) ;taken a long rest, as'at now I lrve on drfferent pam k1llers for me to operate :

i The second drsabrhty is on'my forehead Th1s ‘started whllst operatrng as'a provost at’ the“
“-main’ gate i’ ZAF L1v1ngstone It iwas durrng this period that I'discovered a-swelling on

. my ‘right side of my forehead, stayed with that-swelling for sometime- and I reported : - -

: myself to station sick-quarters. 1 ‘received treatment and the swelling couldn’t go away. 1

L later travelled to:Chikankata Hosprtal and by this time the-swelling burst and puss:started .- = .-
"¢ coming out on my’ forehead Also there was ‘some smelly puss which continued coming’
"+ 6ut of my.-nose. I started. experiencing brokings it my nostrils until 1999 when-I was first

. referred to MSMH for thé:same problem. It was also-this period that PTB was dragnosed
- - on‘me. So as at now 1 experrence some persrstent blockage in my nostrils and later
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: followed by headache The doctor for ENT ‘was supposed to wrrte a letter to thrs looatron
but it hasn t come yet....” '

.Aga1n 1t is clear from the narratron above that the 2“d petrtroner s medrcal :
o condrtlon was detenoratrng from 1993. Evrdence from DDM2 Whlch is’ not

in drspute is that the 2nd petitioner appeared before a Medrcal Board on 12

i ~Apr11 1995 and thls is what he wrote in his statement to the Medical l30ard

It was in August 1993 ‘when I drscovered that my rrght leg had started swelhng At ﬁrst I
took it that it was just somethmg which would go away. I reported the case to, schiool sick.

-quarters where I got admitted since that time, the problem. has persisted. It has been on. - -,

, ** and ‘off hence making me- unable to be in shoes and farhng to walk properly And as for
jthe pam ‘ithas falled to go of B :

The Medrcal Board at’ that tlme decided that the 2"d petltroner was only ﬁt L

“for 11m1ted dutles The Drrector of Medlcal Servrces agreed Wrth the Med1cal. _

i Board’s recommendat1ons and advrsed that the 2nd p etitioner should not

rpart1crpate m sports parades and guard dutres and further advrsed that he
o should go on leave for 60 days ‘to help in the- healmg process -

o The next Medrcal Board he attended is'the one in 1ssue whlch recommended' ' ,‘ .

o for his drscharge from the mrhtary In thrs case, Dr Matlpa mdrcated on: the’ o

B form that the 2" petrtroner still had parn in his rrght leg and the problem of

puss drscharge from the nostrrls was still present Although the 2“d pet1t1oner o

“in his evidence portrayed that he was enjoymg good ‘health at the tithe he' 3

attended the Medrcal Board ‘his own: statement submrtted to the Medical -~

i [Board shows to the contrary The State alleged that the ond pet1t1oner

o -,requested for- the drscharge on medrcal grounds However the 2nd: pet1t1oner :

i 'Vdemed ever requestlng for the drscharge and T must say that 1t would have
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" ‘been better 1f the 2‘”l petrtloner was requested to put it in wrl‘ung As 1t isDr. .

,'Ma‘upa and the Medrcal Board have no proof that he requested for the same:

“since he d1d not mclude 1t 1n hlS own wrrtten statement Tl’llS means that he '

e must be glven the beneﬁt of doubt

'On the 'other hand, there is- ample ev1dence to show that the ﬁndmgs of the %

‘Med1cal Board Were not unreasonable havmg regard to-the Z“d pet1t1oner s: v
o med1cal hrstory He admrtted ‘having been unwell smce 1993 and his own

, statement in October 2001 shows that he had not 1rnproved but rather was

o 'gettmg worse In thelr assessment of the Z“d pet1t10ner in 1995 the’ Medwal_j - L

'Board recategorrsed the 2n pe’utroner and assessed him in category A4G4 : "'_ o

v, However in 2001 after appearmg before the Medlcal Board his medrcal :

- : Zyﬁtness dropped to A4G5 whlch meant he was not ﬁt for mrlrtary dutres

It is not in drspute that the pet1t1oners were dlscharged under Regulatron 9 S

,(3) of the Defence Force (Regular Force) (Enhstment and Servrce) _’

i ,Regulatrons of the Defence Act It prov1des as follows

: i

“_A soldier may be drscharged frorn the Regular Force at any time dunng his service in’

such force upon' anyof the grounds set out irl: column 1 of the Third Schedule, subject to . L
" the spec1al instruction appearmg oppos1te thereto in-:Column 2 of the ‘said 'schedule and, -

o - for the purposes. of section-twenty-one of theAct, the person specified opposite.thereto in" - ‘

. " Column' 3 of ‘the ‘said schedule shall be competent mllltary authonty for the purpose
L specified in- Colurnn k thereof
'Serial (xvi) states:

. ".Cause of discharge: Permanently med1cally unfit for mllltary service.

i Spemal Instructions: A soldier will be d;scharged under this sérial ifhe is medrcally unﬁt‘ l e
" forany “form of servrce in the Regular Force:and s likely to remam S0 permanently i

authorlt o authotise discharge

. Competent milit

a '-Commander actlng on advxce of medlcal authontres S

: ,'In my- con51dered vrew, the key word is ‘lzkely meanrng that the soldler is" f

E ‘llkely to remain $o permanently While T agree (and 1 have alluded to thrs.
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i above) that the petltroners were only tested for HIV: aﬂer they appeared.f'

before the- Medrcal Board it-is clear that because of their. condrtron which

. Dr Matrpa felt was deterroratrng, he tested them for HIV and put ¢ them on', P '

ARVs and therr own evrdence 1s that they began to- 1rnprove From: the- facts

o it is. clear that at the trme when the pet1t10ners appeared before the Medlcal S

: '*T.Board the doctors were of the oprnlon that the medrcal condrtron of the. L

’_ petrtroners was ‘hkely to rernarn permanent’ consrdermg therr medrcal,.,x-

‘,'hrstory ST L ST e

¥ Under thrs head the defence .also referred the court to the Zambza Air’ Force‘» fv' '
R ‘Manual Assessment of Med1ca1 Fltness (APZZ701) They argued that it rsf- _—

._‘_t'ﬂ;not correct to- suggest that . the term permanently unfit” ‘refers. only to, S

T -HIV/AIDS which i 1n the. pet1t10ners submrssron is the only ‘drsease that can L :

o be tenned 1ncurab1e and therefore permanent ’ The ZAF Manual has 1ts‘("
e ‘

_ own deﬁnrtron of what can be termed ‘temporal or- permanent’ No doubt R

R ,every mstxtutlon has 1ts own standards of assessment and in thrs case Zambla o o

Air Force has laid guldehnes as to the way assessments are carrred out. Ini B

"bjfr'r.-'fact thrs explams why Dr Walubrta (PWS) could not understand the

o 'assessment done by the Medrcal Board In the Foreword of the Man}lal 1t is .

ST stated in paragraph 5 that

““in’ the mterest of efﬁmency, it is essentral that all officérs and men should have some’ -

o iknowledgc of not only ‘what the medical and executive ‘branchies of the Air Force require. -

" ¢ of'them medically but also to “know the medical standards they are expected to achieve at-
. “-whatever, level of their employment in the Zambia  Air Force. With this in mind it.is "
"+ “hoped then’ ‘that the manual will serve as a guide to ll staff at all levels‘and. branches of . <
R the A1r Force ¢ as-a book of reference whenever such personnel are.in doubt AR, -

7 ‘iFor the Z“d pet1t1oner, in 1995 he was graded A4G4 which is. fa temporaryr‘ N

employment standard’ whrch is awarded when there are- medrcal mdrcatrons R
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that a Signiﬁcant ‘Change in the individual’s. condition is. likely to occur

T varthln 18 months Probably, the Station Medrcal Ofﬁcer expected some' _

"~ sip n1ﬁcant osrtrve chan e in the Z"d entroner S medlcal condition but .
g P ge P t

o instead hlS COIldlthIl had worsened by the time he appeared ‘before the'r :

o ‘4 » Medlca} Board i 1n 2001. And going by the condrtron of the 2n petrtroner the =

L doctors .found h1rn unﬁt for. all forms of 1n111tary dutles Lookmg at the.- :

o provrsrons of the Thrrd Schedule Serial No. (xvr) of the Defence Force . -

o (Regular Force) (Enllstment and Serv1ce) Regulatlons it is rmportant to notez',

' 'that the standards are mentroned therem Wlthout doubt the deﬁnrtron of_“»_ '

",dlsabrhty is: drfferent in: the mlhtary and thrs was “also explamed by Dr s

5 o ‘Matlpa and Mulela Accordrng to D1 Walubrta (PWS) ‘drsabrhty 1s 1oss of B

'“‘rnormal functlon of a body part erther ternporal or- permanent He gave an -

s i example of a temporal drsabrhty that 1f a person broke hrs arim - thls 1s£.

L jtemporal But if 1t 1s amputated this i is.a permanent drsabrhty in medrcal o

f -';.‘terms In this case, it has to be borne in mrnd that ‘we are talkrng about c

' V*'physmal f tness to perform mrhtary dutles in the Zamb1a A1r Force And I' .

e should pomt out that the petltloners were regarded as ‘airmen - thlS questron e

e was brought out by Mr Mulenga

: Wrth regard to the 1* petitioner in hrs statement ‘to the Medrcal Board he

Cn stated that he had been suffermg from 1998 and that he - could not work "

- properly because of severe pam and. the swelhng of the- leg whrch was now . .

"}hardemng The doctors 1ndrcated that he would: Tequire long term treatrnent..' RN

: ',_'for the problem Whlch they 1dent1ﬁed to be kaposrs sarcoma In the oprmon;'_g’.ff E

S “of'the doctors and as. per the provrsrons of the Defence Act he was unﬁt for':

k all forms of dut1es in the Zambla A1r Force

Gorng by the deﬁnrtron in the Zambra Air Force Manual of Assessment of ) L ’
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o Medrcal Frtness, the med1cal team d1d not expect any pos1trve change in- the ‘

: condrtron of the petltroners Wltl’lll’l lS months Agam thrs was due to the o

o i’petrtroners medrcal hlstory of poor. health for, many years and th1s was

- ,,evrdent in. the1r own statements to the Med1cal Board coupled wrth that of

' therr- doctor (RWl-) Havmg read the Defence Act and the Regulatrpns it 1s'-

' ‘;‘qurte clear that dlscharge from the: mllltary is not a s1mple process hence the'_ : -

L laborlous procedures as. the a1m is to’ keep a serv1ceman in serv1ce once

ol enlisted.

' I must say that hstemng to the petrtloners on. thls pomt they were- not( PR

g :convrncmg though they trled to. 1n51st that they were drscharged because of ; _’

'-: therr HIV: status Indeed havmg regard to the facts of the whole case, | find :

.",': that there is- no evrdence to show that the petrtroners ‘were drscharged

i“»‘:because they were HIV posrtrve The relref sought by the petltloners must. ST,

i V,farl for lack of merrt and evrdence B

: '(c) That the Honourab]e Court may determme and declare that the decmfon of the -

by f*Zambla ‘Air-Force: Commarder was-and is contrary. to" the spirit and intént of the

stated’ Government Policy and Guxdelmes on-HIV/AIDS in so far as-if relates to the

v treatment; atfitude, and accommodatlon ‘of - servncemen who have been dlagnosed S
e ‘-_Wlth the v1rus that causes AIDS '

i I have already found that the petltroners ‘were not drscharged because of therr

: ,’ .,'HIV status but because of therr medrcal condrtron Whrch the doctors belleved

S was llkely to remarn permanent and therefore they " recommended that they'f”
'be dlscharged from ZAF Dr. Mulela (RW2) drd explam that in fact the

,Zambra Air Force does not. dlscharge -personnel on account of their HIV s

o 'status and that there area number of staff who are strll in ZAF Who are HIV R

- posmve lt 1s 1mportant to hote that at the trme the petrtloners were' -

. R
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7 - drscharged the government polrcy on HIV/AIDS was not 1n place The.’rv‘
e irespondent has exhrbrted the Zarnbra Defence Force HIV and AIDS pOlle

":‘dated January 2008 and i in the Foreword the then Honourable Mmrster of
"’Defence Mr. George W.. Mpombo MP states 1n para l that

““The Zamblan Defence Force through Defence Force Medrcal Serv1ces hds been’ ﬁghtmg o
a relentless war . against HIV and AIDS ‘epidemic since its advent in the early 1980s." -

o However, the various interventions put in place to-mitigate the negative effects of the

' _eprdemrc among service personnel and their: families have béen’ implemented without an’ -

» . HIV and AIDS policy. The national HIV and AIDS policy came into effect in Jun¢ 2005~ - -
©cand: smce then, the Defence Torce has been involved in consultative | processes wrthm and i

o Wlth co—operatmg partners to formulate a'work place HIV and AIDS polrcy

: a8 There :is noldispute to. the'fact that'th‘e HIV/AIDS Policy only- came into.;_i ., o

'effect after the petrtroners were drscharged Inmy. Vlew it has no bearmg, on -

: ~-thrs petltron The Pohcy -does not have any’ retrospectrve effect The court’ 1s: s

. N oblrged to focus on the srtuatlon whrch was prevarlrng hefore and durmg the o

5 dlscharge of the petrtloners from mrlrtary service: In any case the petrtroners R

vadmrtted that they have contrnued srnce the1r dlscharge to enJ oy medrcalv S

- facﬂrtres at: the ZAF Clrnrc Baslcally, their berng drscharged has not affectedA |
‘ V’therr access to treatment Whrle T belleve that the Government Pohcy and - -

V'Gurdehnes on HIV/AIDS has rnade a great 1mpact on the ﬁght agarnst

"':’HIV/AI,DS thrs case is dealrng wrth the. situation before the polrcy was .

o 1mplemented and for the petltloners to c1te it in support of their case isa .~

mrsconceptron For them to claim that the1r d1scharge ‘was premature and

k ‘that® thrs was’ agamst govemment policy i 1s unacceptable for lack of evrdence

o must also point out the petr’uoners did not even address thrs clarm in their .

o -'evrdence and the same ‘was not addressed in therr submrssrons ThlS clarm' SO

o ; farls

L The petrtloners also argued that the respondent 'S de01s1on 0 drscharge and or'r-';* '
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- .exclude them on account of thelr HIV/AIDS status  was ultra vires the
'_Zambxan Constltutron the Universal Declaratron of. Human Rrghts and The 3
, ;Afrrcan Charter on Human and- People s nghts as well as the Internatronal_ :

Covenant on C1V11 and Pohtrcal nghts Slnce thelr clarm that they were, .i

R 'drscharged on- account of their HIV status has falled thls argument has no

“leg to stand on 1 and rnust faxl as well

e -The petftiOners have alstOgal-l:eged tha‘t Regulation 9 3) of thevDefenc'»:e Force -~

R (Regular v:Force) (EnliStrnent ‘and Service) 'Regulati"ons ‘perrnits ‘the Air

fCommander to dlscharge or exclude mrhtary personnel on  medical grounds K

‘ : ‘on account of therr HIV- status and that thrs law vrolates Atrticles 11, 21 and» , ,::, L

‘ "23 of: the Constrtutlon and other mternatronal 1nstruments Havrng regard to-:

,the facts of thrs case there is no ev1dence to this effect ‘The regulatron it

‘very clear and . cannot be mrsused to mfrlnge on- the rrghts of . rnrhta;ry .

"personnel hvrng wrth HIV/AIDS or 1ndeed any other mrhtary personneI o

' general Under the sard regulatlon it is the ﬁtness Jof the, soldrer Whlch;'

e ’j»'.j'.deterrmnes the. course of actron and. not necessarrly the drsease And a goodf" :

example is- the petrtloners who Were recommended for drscharge by the’ o

: ;.'MedlcaI Boa:rd before they were tested for HIV o S e

) (d) That this Honourable Court may determme and declare that the Petitioners are

: “entitled” to and/or “ought to bé entitled to continue working under _the Zambia Air -~ .~ :
- Rorce" in - their- respectwe ‘ranks .and Sectrons and/or departments and/or’ be
3-tredeployed to. appropriate. and’ alternatrve, avallable Sectlons and Departments in, " -

. the Military Establishment sultable to their status untll such a time when they shall; -

. -4, ‘have become Imumiuno- suppressed such’ that they are unable to carry out thelr usual1 L

f'and/or alternatlve dutres )

e v_‘In relatron to thrs cla1m under Senal (xvr) of the Defence Force (Regular Pes

- :;-'Force) (Enhstment and Servrce) Regulatlons there i is provrsron for transfer or. v

- .redeployment to another departrnent but not in the case.of’ soldrers who are
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. :dlscharged for berng permanently medrcally unﬁt for mrlltary service. In thls

- case, the doctors advrsed that the ‘petitioners vvere unfit for all forms of

, .mlhtary duties and 1t was on this advice that the Commander drscharged the i

:,'lpet1t1oners 1 erl also consrder the thrrd 1ssue and fourth 1ssue whether the o

: peutroners were permanently medrcally unﬁt to perform thelr rmhtary dutles _

o the trme of the Medrcal Board proceedlngs and at the time’ of drscharge

‘The pet1t1oners argue that because they appear ed before the Medrcal Board ‘

in‘ uniform thrs meant ‘that-“they were on mrlrtary duty And that after' :

jiappearmg before the Medrcal Board they resumed therr dut1es wrthout any

problems As the defence have stated on. this pornt wearmg a urnform doesi o

R not 1ndrcate medrcal fitness or 1ndeed that someone ‘is on duty. In his

ETE ,statement to the' Medrcal Board the 1St etltroner 1ndlcated 1nter aha that the .
, p

‘ O paln e, had been expenencmg smce 1998 had become permanent ‘and. the:v -

'swelhng had worsened such that he could not work properly due to severe -

\?"-_"fpam and swelhng of the leg On the other hand, the o petrtroner 1ndrcated il

-that the problern he had started in’ 1993 and he explarned that he was now 0 B

S l1v1ng on pait krllers due to pain in hrs rrght leg and he also experrenced ;

SN, .blockage in his nostrils and headaches The statements have béeen reproduced‘_'f,

B in full 1n this Judgment The 1nformat10n was provrded to the Medlcal Boardvv.:‘—_ e

T and relymg on the pet1t10ners own statements of their condrtrons mcludmg AR

g "evrdence from Dr Matrpa and havrng regard o the fact that the two. had been; L

L . ':lll for some years the - doctors in the1r w1sdom d1scharged them as 1n therr,:, "

' ‘,_'“joplnlon therr med1ca1 condition- was not hkely to" change 1n -the" next 18":.- .

o 'months (as per-the provrsron in- the Manual of Medlcal Assessments) The =~ -

o 'pomt is- the condrtlon of the petrtroners had not changed in splte of the "

K ftreatment they were recelvmg and I find the recommendatron made bv the
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doctors cannot be- sa1d to be- unreasonable ‘The pet1t1oners argued that after ! :

B appearmg before the Medrcal Board they contmued workrng and they did
‘ not know that they were recategonsed The role of the Medrcal Board is to '~

come up Wlth recommendatrons and the final de01s1on is made by . the\_",

Cornmander and the Medlcal Board cannot be blamed for the delay 1n"¥ .

ﬁcomrnumcatmg the final dec1s1on to the petitioners. As Dr. Mat1pa (RWl) .

«and Dr. Mulela” explamed they made recommendat1ons but they d1d ot i

. know whether thelr orders were followed by the supervrsors T find that the o

' correct procedure was followed in th1s case - and the respondent cannot be_,‘ v
‘s "'faulted ' '

v

: fu'In addltlon the ISt petlttoner produced a letter of conﬁrmatron from theu,,'f;

S ‘respondents whlch states that dunng his serv1ce in Zambra A1r Force he was

: ] hardworkmg, dedrcated to duty and well dlscrphned The Z"d petrtroner has ,

also produced a’ reference letter dated January 2003 in which it is stated thatr o

he was retrred on medlcal grounds but that he Was hardworkmg, loyal to hrs i

;{»'supenors and subordrnates and -was dependable I must agree with the 3 '

L defence subm1ss1on that the two letters are not d. conﬁrmatlon of the medlcal’," 0,

\fttness of the petrtmners 1o perform nuhtary dutles These are letters of;"v_ o

recommendatlon to would be employers and are ‘not’ helpful to the.'_t_f

: 7 : pet1t10ners case . The way I see it, it is a. s1tuat1on where the pet1t1oners?

7 insist ‘they were fit, yet the doctors felt otherw1se and under the Defence Act < :

it 1s the oplmon of the doctors that carrres the day In- fact the petrtroners RN

e Want the court to 1gnore the1r own statements madeto the Medrcal Boa:rd in

‘ ‘[ preference to thelr ev1dence 1n whrch they claim: they were fit and should not

' fhave been drscharged As far as the third i 1ssue 1s concemed I find that ‘; e

. havmg_ regard 1o’ the facts, the petrtloners were ‘medically unﬁt at the time
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' they appeared before the. Medlcal Board and’ the decrsron to drscharge them - .
) "cannot be sard to have been premature rrratronal unjustlﬁable unfarr or,”

vj'unlawful as contended by the petitioners. It is deﬁnltely not a question of :

. whether they are: presently fit to carry out mrhtary dutles but rather Whether; .

at that trme m the oprmon of the Medrcal Board the petrtloners werel -

o medrcally ﬁt to perform their m111tary dutres

‘Turnmg t0 the questron whether the petrtroners were permanentlv unﬁt at oo, ;

- time of dlscharge itis: undlsputed that followmg thelr appearance before the

'.""Medwal Board they contmued workmg in the Zambla Air Force The:f

o defence has rarsed pertment 1ssues with regard to this questron ‘and that is

R rthat there is ev1dence that the petrtroners remamed medrcally unﬁt after therr e

' _~~’drscharge In th1s argument the defence contend that the pet1t10ners weref—_ -

o 7'0bv10usly unﬁt at. tlme of drscharge as therr condition did not 1mprove longi Lo

o B after drscharge It is’ not in drspute that on- 7 December 2002 Lrvmgstonex

= ,""Hospltal wrote on behalf of the 1% petltloner that' he needed K30mrll1on for

i medlcal treatment in South Afrlca ThlS letter is, marked DDM16 in"the ,

Afﬁdavrt in Support of. Respondent s Supplementary (Contemporaneous),f

o : f.Docunrents and 1t confirms that the 1* petrt1oner was sufferlng from kaposrs 4

- "f-sarcoma and now needed speerahst treatment erther in ernbabwe or Southr

- Affica; That he was on prescrlptlon drugs for the same drsease 1s not;,_ ‘

: 'dlsputed Further as pomted out’ by the: defence the 1St petrtroner was ;

: ‘j_referred by the ZAF Chmc to the L1V1ngstone General Hosp1tal as he was: e

s obvrously unwell. The 2nd petrtroner had tobe referred by the ZAF Chmc 10 o

E ;”SEPO Centre for food supplements Be that at- 1t may, .the questron still :

"remams whether they were unfit at time of drscharge The petrtroners E

y fattended the Medlcal Board a year earher and the pet1t10ners contentron isi-
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" that even if th’eyv had' :h'ealth problems at ‘the time of the Medical Bdard L

| proceedmgs thls drd not mean that the said health problems would remain . - i

, w1th them permanently or that their condmon would 1nterfere wrth their

| mlhtary dutles Durmg the proceedmgs 1 put the quest1on to Dr Mulela that
_ would 1t not have been prudent to review the petmoners having regard to the‘ :
B ‘--.lapse of time that 1t had taken from the time the Medical Board sat to the
- f:tlme of dlscharge‘? He stated that review is not avarlable in ‘such cases
~ While, T believe that a revrew of the. medrcal condmon of the pe‘utroners
would have been a prudent thmg for the respondent to do having regard to ;
‘the lapse of tlme ‘am also mindful of the fact that the 1n1t1al decision to"
| V,drscharge them ‘was because the doctors could not see any hope of
. ;,1mprovement and were of the opmron that the petltroners were lzkely ro -
' remain. in the condrtlon they Were in permanently In my consrdered vrew I ,
‘ .e.do not thlnk this was an. unreasonable conclusron havmg regard 10 the L

i medrcal h1story of the petrtroners
. ‘ e

: T have to emphasrze that the oplmon of the doctors was cardlnal in thrs case_ o

- _and the decrsron was that the petmoners be d1scharged on medrcal grounds -

'fIt was therefore mconcervable ‘in such- crrcumstances at that tlme to place '

a them in other. departments because they were unﬁt for mrhtary service. Tn - -

'Vfact the petmoners enjoyed a good workmg envrronment such that in. splte of*
. ftherr medical ¢ condrtron whlch they descrlbed themselves in their st;atements ,

to the Medrcal Board - therr superrors ‘considered them for promot1on and

D trammg The petrtloners cannot therefore clalm that they were strgmatlsed D

~jd1scr1mmated agamst or treated unfalrly by the respondent before or alter '

: : ‘--drsoharge I do not ‘agree. that the petrtroners should now be: oonsrdered for .

re-engagement.51mply because they. have beent certified to be of good health

759



- by medlcal practrtroners l1ke Dr Walubita (PWS) or for the fact that they -
~1nay have enjoyed good health after drscharge contrary to the verdrct g1ven '

f'by the doctors at the time of drscharge 'Unless the decrsron made by the )

L respondent at the t1me of chscharge was made in ‘bad faith, T do not find any.

'breason to mterfere w1th it and order that the pet1t1oners are entrtled to .

. contmue workmg xn the, A1r Force or that they should merely have been o

,‘ "‘g1ven ltght dutles I do not th1nk the clalm by the petrtroners under thrs head

‘L._f-;s pract.mal or: reahstlc and if T allowed 1t i would certamly be settmg a._ o

R ’wrong precedent 1 do not ﬁnd any ment in ‘the cla1m and it also fails.

v(e) That the Petltloners be awarded damages for the Tost’ opportumty to continue

‘workmg and enjoymg thelr rlghts and pnvrleges as employees of the: Zambla All‘ e

. ‘Force o

The p‘etitloners‘cannot be awarded damages under this head'as' they were'n'ot o

> Wrongly dlscharged from the Zambla Air Force They were dlscharged on

medlcal grounds and as T have said I ﬁnd the decrsron to have been Justrﬁed#?‘fi: ": -

;_‘:, due to the medlcal cond1t1on of the pe‘utloners at the time. This clarm must R

_thereforefaﬂ 7' e - v R .

; (f) That the Petrtloners be-awarded damages for, the mental angmsh *emotronal
‘dlstress and the stlgma and discrimination that they were subjected to as a ‘result of .

" 'the Zambla Air Force: Commander s decision to subJect them to compulsory andf._

mandatory HIV testmg and the premature termlnatlon of thexr employment

- .Under thlS head the ﬁrst thmg to note is that I have already stated and found g

- that the petttroners were not’ prematurely d1scharged from the Zambia Air " .

V Force It was' purely on med1cal grounds and within the conﬁnes of the law L

N However I have found that they were mdeed subjected to mandatory HIV - .

: f;'testmg which - Was and is a violation of thelr fundamental rlghts provrded' .
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under the Constltutlon of Zambla By thlS action the respondent in th1s case, .

the Attorney-General was/rs in breach of its 1nternat10nal obhgatlons found

o m the var1ous mternatlonal Covenants and 1nstruments to whrch Zarnbla isa

. » ‘51gnatory l1ke the Afrlcan Charter on Human and Peoples R1ghts The State :.;_

"Vhas argued that the dlscharge was done- in accordance wrth the law and that' .

. the petrtloners were pard the1r terminal benefits after cllscharge and dre ;

ey therefore not entrtled to- damages The State further argued that damages can’

2 only be cla1rned for civil wrongs in contract and tort and that the petltloners S

" have- not shown the breach caused to their contract of employment or ‘what -

: 1._personal 1nJury or paln they are currently suffermg In my. con31dered view; kf: :

S thrs is a case where the petruoners rlght o prlvacy and protectron from'

: 1nhuman treatment was. 1nfrmged and petltloners are: ent1tled to damages :

o l_Otherwrse why have r1ghts enshrined i in the supreme law: of the land Wthh

- "";can be Vrolated at w1ll w1thout redress" ThlS certamly was not the 1ntent10n )

o b..’fof the framers of our Constrtu‘uon Accordmg to'the ev1dence of Dr. Mwiiya.

v:Imasﬂ{u (PW4) 1f a person is tested for HIV w1thout the1r knowledge and

: later they drscover that they are HIV pos1t1ve thls is traumat1c as'the person=‘ <

.v'feels mampulated and dehumamsed among other factors Both petltroners,

L ‘_'told the court they suffered mental angu1sh after d1scover1ng they had been

Lo .tested for. HIV w1thout thelr knowledge or consent. The questlon is what i is )

| ‘ _,V_the purpose of: pre-test and post—test counselhng‘7 Dr: Imasﬂ(u (PW4)V

V’explambd that it helps to prepare the. chent with coplng mechanismis to. take o

care of- any psycholog1cal trauma like anxiety, depressmn etc. In'the wordsj’ ’ " .

' of Dr Imas1ku pre-test counselhng isa therapeutrc strategy used. o prepare

- the chent by giving hrm 1nformatlon about the test HIV test as well as.

> idrscuss the consequences of an HIV posmve result or negatlve result. Th1s .

© was not vdone ‘and for, ﬂ’lrls the petitioners demand compensat_ron from the ¥ L
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”State Thrs 1s a case where at the tlme when they were subJected tor

L mandatory testrng for HIV the petrt1oners were deprrved of vital 1nformat10n L

vfﬁregardlng thelr personal health andtheir dlgnrty was lowered their prlvacy 7 L

- was-invaded- wrthout the1r consent To an ordrnary Zambran ora reasonable S

’serv1ceman in: the class of the petmoners this would bea shockmg dlscovery

Although this is not a case 1nvolv1ng damages for personal mjurles, the case e

e T’of Mary Patr;cra Soko vs. The Attorney-General (11) ‘can offer some i

gurdehrfes on’ quantum of ‘damages even_ for mental anguish. In Maryf‘,.‘“ ‘
Patrlcla Soko vs. The Attorney-General (11) at page 161 the Supremef‘_‘ o
‘,:'._Court had thrs to say '

the task of measurrng human sufferrng of thJS nature in’ terms of cash is not-an easy o

“ofie but the court should try to award fair and adequate compensatlon No money can ever"

ifully compensate for serious physrcal injuries and no yardstlck exists ‘for. measuring mgfj '

- mioney terms the compensation o be accorded .for mental suffermg because: the lossv e

‘i)lS 1mponderab1e in cash” .

; Therefore 1t is. not about the amount of money and the bottom 11ne is that R

SR d1d what he thought was: r1ght to help the petltxoners at the time and taklngf L o :

s there was a conﬂrct between eth1ca1 lssues and prrvate rrghts and Dr; Matlpa' S

- rthrs factor into cons1derat10n should not be mlsrnterpreted Lookmg at 1t"_ s

k _ from a drfferent angle what he did 1s in my vrew a mrtrgatmg factorf

" :fbecause the medrcatron d1d not cause any. harm to the petitioners. It- made' 4-_‘

5 ithem better It anythmg the petltloners have beneﬁted frorn the treatment and :

7 '/’thls is. why they can now demand to be re- engaged mto the mlhtary InC.vs: .

R _'_Mlmster of Correctlonal Servu:es (4) which" was almost srmrlar to thrs one,”

5 “tthe court awarded RIOOO In that _case, the court observed that had the_.:,

= plalntrff recerved pre test counsehng “the emotlonal blow would have been o

i dnmnlshed” Takrng rnto account the mrcumstances of this case, T ﬁnd that. S
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an award of KlO 000 000 to each petrtroner is reasonable The arnount s

: payable with mterest at 10% from the date’ of writ up to today and hereafter o
,at the Bank of Zambla lendmg rate unt11 full payment

‘ (g) That the Honourable Court may make such declaranon dlrectrons and orders
~as’it may:deem fit to make: for- the effectlve reahzatron 1nd enforcement of the rlghts ce

« - of Persons L1v1ng Wlth HIV/AIDS such as the Petltmners

My recommendatron is-in relatlon to communication of the results of the» , _‘
, ,.A:'_“Vs1tt1ngs of the Medrcal Board Although the Medlcal Board is not the ﬁnal'

i ..authorlty, my vrew is that itds falr and Just that at the end of every 31tt1ng, e

: :every servrceman who has appeared before 1t] should be informed of 1ts Lo

B decrs1on The ﬁnal demsmn frorn the A1r Commander can come later but the s

S recommendatlon of the Medrcal Board can be communlcated 1mmed1ately

o and I do Tiot beheve there would be any harm or preJudrce in thlS

For av01dance of doubt my Judgment 1s that and I declare that the'. '

) ,respondent s decrsron to. carry out mandatory HIV tests on the petrtloners e

: "'ff\wrthout their 1nformed consent was a. Vlolatron of thelr rlght to protectrons-_“’;_'

""ﬁom mhuman and degradrng treatment and the rrght to prrvacy The‘f' )

S ,‘damages are as’ stated herern

o :,'Costs‘to the’ petitioners'to;-be taxed in default of agreement.

'LNC MUYOVWE RO
JUDGE e Ly
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